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Terminology and references

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the words “Canp”, “IntelGenx”, “we”, “us”, and “our” refer collectively to IntelGenx Technolog
Corp. and IntelGenx Corp., our wholly-owned Canadiabsidiary.

In this Form 10-K, unless otherwise specified,natinetary amounts are in United States dollargefdrences to “$”, “U.S.$”, “U.S. dollars”
and “dollars” mean U.S. dollars and all referent®e8C$”, “Canadian dollars” and “CAD$Mmean Canadian dollars. To the extent that
monetary amounts are derived from our consolidéitexhcial statements included elsewhere in thi;mFa0K, they have been translated i
U.S. dollars in accordance with our accounting giesé as described therein. Unless otherwise inglicadbther Canadian dollar monet
amounts have been translated into United Statéarg@t the December 31, 2014 closing rate repdoyettie Bank of Canada, being U.S. $:
= CAD$1.1601.




PART |
Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Staements

Certain statements included or incorporated byreefee in this report constitute forwambking statements within the meaning of applic
securities laws. All statements contained in tkisort that are not clearly historical in nature fanrevard-looking, and the words “anticipate”
“believe”, “continue”, “expect”, “estimate”, “intad?, “may”, “plan”, “will", “shall” and other similar expressions are generally interd
identify forwardiooking statements within the meaning of Sectiod 2if the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21Etld Securitie
Exchange Act of 1934. All forwarbboking statements are based on our beliefs anghgssons based on information available at the tihe
assumption was made. These forward-looking statesyee not based on historical facts but on managésnexpectations regarding fut
growth, results of operations, performance, futapital and other expenditures (including the amounature and sources of funding there
competitive advantages, business prospects andrtopfiies. Forwardeoking statements involve significant known andkmmwn risks
uncertainties, assumptions and other factors tlagtcause our actual results, levels of activityfggenance or achievements to differ materi
from those implied by forwartboking statements. These factors should be coresidearefully and prospective investors should piate
undue reliance on the forward-looking statementthoddgh the forwardeoking statements contained in this report or ipocated by referen
herein are based upon what management believes tealsonable assumptions, there is no assurartcacthal results will be consistent w
these forward-looking statements. These forwaaking statements are made as of the date ofrémert or as of the date specified in
documents incorporated by reference herein, asahe may beVe undertake no obligation to update any forwardlooking statements t
reflect events or circumstances after the date onhich such statements were made or to reflect the cgrrence of unanticipated event:
except as may be required by applicable securitidaws. The factors set forth in Iltem 1A., "Risk Factora$, well as any cautionary langu
in this report, provide examples of risks, uncetias and events that may cause our actual rasuttiffer materially from the expectations
describe in our forwartboking statements. Before you invest in the commtotk, you should be aware that the occurrencéhefevent
described as risk factors and elsewhere in thisrtepould have a material adverse effect on ouiness, operating results and finan
condition.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Corporate History

Our predecessor company, Big Flash Corp., was mucated in Delaware on July 27, 1999. On April 2806, Big Flash, through its Canac
holding corporation, completed the acquisition mklGenx Corp., a Canadian company incorporatedume 15, 2003. The Company did
have any operations prior to the acquisition oéli@enx Corp. In connection with the acquisition, atanged our name from Big Flash Corj
IntelGenx Technologies Corp. IntelGenx Corp. hastiooed operations as our operating subsidiary.

Overview

We are a drug delivery company focusing on the ldgweent of novel, orally administered drug delivergducts based on our proprietary
drug delivery technologies. We have positioned elwes as a provider of product development servioeghe pharmaceutical indust
including the branded and generic pharmaceuticakets.

Drug delivery systems are an important tool intaads of physicians for purposes of optimizing dhayapy. For the pharmaceutical indu
drug delivery systems represent an opportunityteral the market exclusivity and product lifecyefedrugs whose patent protection is neg
expiration.

A significant portion of our current products undigvelopment focus on controlled release deliverstesns. Controlled release deliv
systems play an important role in the developméntally administered drug delivery systems. Colfebrelease technology provides patir
with the required amount of medication over a gegermined, prolonged period of time. Because efrétuced fluctuation of the active drus
the blood and the avoidance of plasma spikes, albedrrelease products are deemed safer and mleratite than conventional dosage fol
and have shown better patient compliance.

Our primary business strategy is to develop phaewzal products based upon our proprietary druiyehy technologies and license

commercial rights to companies in the pharmaceluticaustry once the viability of a product has belemonstrated. In exchange for licen:
rights to our products, we seek funding consisbh@ combination of one or more of the followingtvance down payments, milestone f
reimbursement for development costs, and royaltiessales. In addition, we may receive a manufawjurioyalty from our contra
manufacturers for the exclusive right to manufeetour products. The companies we partner with yedlly responsible for managing
regulatory approval process of the product withWinted States Food and Drug Administration (“FDAf)d/or other regulatory bodies, as \
as for the marketing and distribution of the pradud®n a case-byase basis, we may be responsible for providingoalpart of th
documentation required for the regulatory submissiio addition to pursuing partnering arrangemdémas provide for the full funding of a dr
development project, we may undertake developmiesglected product opportunities until the markg@md distribution stage. We would f
assess the potential and associated costs forssfiagtdevelopment of a product, and then deterratnghich stage it would be most pruder
seek a partner, balancing costs against the patdotihigher returns later in the development pasc
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Technology Platforms

Our product development efforts are based uponethtelivery platform technologies: (1) VersaFiim™n @ral Film technology, (.
VersaTab™, a Multilayer Tablet technology, andA8)ersa™, a Mucoadhesive Tablet technology.

The Oral Film technology consists of a thin @5®+micron) polymeric film comprised of United St&feharmacopeia (USP) components the
approved by the FDA for use in food, pharmaceuti@atl cosmetic products. Derived from the ediba fechnology used for breath strips
initially developed for the instant delivery of say flavors to food substrates, the VersaFilm™ tedbgy is designed to provide a ra
response compared to existing conventional tabléts.VersaFilm™ technology is intended for indioas requiring rapid onset of action, s
as migraine, opioid dependence, motion sicknesstitr dysfunction, and nausea.

Our Multilayer Tablet platform technology allowsr fthe development of oral controllediease products. It is designed to be versatitete
reduce manufacturing costs as compared to competilgextendedelease delivery technologies. The Oral Film tedbagy allows for th
instant delivery of pharmaceuticals to the oralityawhile the Mucoadhesive Tablet allows for trentrolled release of active substances ti
oral mucosa.

The Multilayer Tablet platform technology represeatnew generation of controlled release layereltsdesigned to modulate the releas
active compounds. The technology is based on alaydt tablet with an active core layer and eroglibbver layers. The release of the a
drug from the core matrix initially occurs in adfitorder fashion. As the cover layers start to erdldey permeability for the active ingredi
through the cover layers increases. Thus, the Myéi Tablet can produce quasi-linear (zerder) kinetics for releasing a chemical compc
over a desired period of time. The erosion ratthefcover layers can be customized according t@hiysicochemical properties of the act
drug. In addition, our multilayer technology offetise opportunity to develop combination productsainregulatoryeompliant forma
Combination products are made up of two or morvadngredients that are combined into a singleagesform.

The Mucoadhesive Tablet is a drug delivery systapable of adhering to the oral mucosa and reledkingrug onto the site of application
controlled rate. The Mucoadhesive Tablet is deslgeprovide the following advantages relative tonpeting technologies: (i) it avoids
first pass effect, whereby the liver metabolizes dlative ingredient and greatly reduces the lef/drag in the systemic circulation, (ii) it lec
to a higher absorption rate in the oral cavity aspared to the conventional oral route, and (iigdhieves a rapid onset of action for the ¢
The Mucoadhesive Tablet technology is designecktodrsatile in order to permit the site of applmat residence time, and rate of releas
the drug to be modulated to achieve the desiradtgses

Product Portfolio

Our product portfolio includes a blend of generwd ébranded products based on our proprietary dglitechnology (“genericdrugs ar
essentially copies of drugs that have already vecdeFDA approval). Of the eleven projects curremlypur product portfolio, three utilize ¢
VersaTab™ technology, five utilize our VersaFilm®&thnology, one utilizes our AdVersa™ technology #reltechnology behind two of ¢
projects remains, in accordance with our contrdahbbgations, confidential.

INT0001/2004: This is the most advanced genericlpebinvolving our multilayer tablet technology. lgalency with the reference prod
Toprol XL® and its European equivalent Beloc-ZOK@shbeen demonstratedvitro . The product has been tested in phase | studiesar
working to progress pivotal development activities.

INT0004/2006: We developed a new, higher strendtthe antidepressant Bupropion HCI, the active édgnt in Wellbutrin XL®,and, ir
November 2011, the FDA approved the drug for p&iernth Major Depressive Disorder. In February 2042 entered into an agreement \
Edgemont Pharmaceuticals LLC (“EdgemorfB) commercialization of the product in the Unit8thtes. Under the terms of the agreen
Edgemont obtained certain exclusive rights to maakel sell the product in the U.S. In exchange eeeived a $1.0 million upfront payme
will receive launch related milestones totalingtop$4.0 million, and are eligible for additional lestones upon achieving certain sales
exclusivity targets of up to a further $23.5 millioVe also receive tiered dould@it royalties on the net sales of the producte Blgreeme
has no expiry date but may be terminated in thentew& without limitation (i) failure by either usr Edgemont to perform our respec
obligations under the agreement; (ii) if eithertpdiles a petition for bankruptcy or insolvency @herwise winds up, liquidates or dissolve
business, or (iii) otherwise by mutual consent leé parties. The agreement also contains custon@rfidentiality, indemnification ar
intellectual property protection provisions.




The product was launched in the U.S. in October22dider the brand name Forfivo XL®&s of December 31, 2014 we have receive
upfront payment of $1 million and a $1 million nstene payment related to the launch. We commeremiving royalty payments in the fi
quarter of 2013 and received total royalties of Bftibusand in the year ended December 31, 2013lfydgicome increased by approxima
171% to $463 thousand in 2014.

In August 2013 we announced receipt of a ParagtepRertification Letter from Wockhardt Bio AG, adihg of the submission of
Abbreviated New Drug Application ("ANDA") to the FDrequesting authorization to manufacture and ntagkeeric versions of Forfivo X®
450 mg capsules in the United States. In NovembBéd 2ve announced that the Paragraph IV litigatidth Wockhardt had been settled .
that, under the terms of the settlement, Wockhlaadtbeen granted the right, with effect from Jandar, 2018, to be the exclusive mark
and distributor of an authorized generic of ForfKio® in the U.S.

In December 2014 we announced that Edgemont hadised its right to extend the license for the esile marketing of Forfivo XL®&5C
mg tablets. In exchange, we received milestone paysnof $650 thousand in December 2014 and $6Q%s#mal in February 2015. All ott
financial obligations contained in the license agnent entered into by Edgemont and IntelGenx irrdaely 2012, specifically launctelatec
and sales milestones, together with the contractyallty rates on net sales of the product, rerragffect.

INT0007/2006: An oral film product based on ourgmietary edible film technology is currently in thptimization stage. The product cont:
the active ingredient Tadalafil and is intended ttoe treatment of erectile dysfunction (ED). Theules of a phase | pilot study that \
conducted in the third quarter of 2010 indicatet e product is bioequivalent with the brand prddiCialis®. A second clinical tri
comparing an alternative formulation with the refege listed drug was completed in the first quaste2013. The results of this study sug
the potential to develop a faster acting Tadalafilduct using our VersaFilm™ technology. The foration is currently being optimized &
will be tested in a bioequivalency study upon firation of the formulation optimization work.

INT0008/2007: In March 2013 we submitted a 505(bj{@w drug application (“NDA”) to the FDA for ouiomel oral thinfilm formulation of
Rizatriptan, the active drug in Maxalt-MLT® orallglisintegrating tablets. Maxalt-MLT® is a leadingabded antmigraine produc
manufactured by Merck & Co. The thin-film formulati of Rizatriptan was developed in accordance wfita codevelopment ar
commercialization agreement with RedHill Biopharbtd. (“RedHill”) using our proprietary immediate release VersaFilor# drug deliver
technology. In December 2011, we received approyafiealth Canada to conduct a pivotal bioequivadestady to determine if our produc
safe and bioequivalent with the FDA approved refeegproduct, Maxalt-MLT®The trial was conducted in the second quarter @22dhd wa
a randomized, two-period, twway crossover study in healthy male and femaleestbj The study results indicate that the prodsisafe, an
that the 90% confidence intervals of the threevaalé parameters Cmax, AUC(0-t) and AUC(0-infiniaye well within the 80 425 acceptan:
range for bioequivalency.

In June 2013 the FDA assigned a Prescription Dragr BFee Act (“PDUFA™action date of February 3, 2014 for the reviewhsf NDA foi
marketing approval and in February 2014 we receavébmplete Response Letter (“CRIffpm the FDA informing us that certain questi
and deficiencies remain that preclude the approf/ttie application in its present form. The queasticaised by the FDA in the CRL regarc
the NDA for our anti-migraine VersaFilm™ productrparily relate to third party Chemistry, Manufadhg and Controls (“CMC"and to th
packaging and labeling of the product. No questiondeficiencies were raised relating to the prddusafety and the FDA's CRL does
require additional clinical studies.

In March 2014 we submitted our response to the BIRL and in April, 2014 the FDA requested addiilo@MC data. We also reported t
the supplier of the active pharmaceutical ingred{®aP1”) of the product has been issued with amplort Alert” by the FDA. The Import Ale
bans the import into the USA of all raw materialenf the supplies manufacturing facility, which therefore prohibttse import of an
products using these raw materials, and effectigedyents our VersaFilm™ product from being appdolg the FDA at this time. We contir
to work together with RedHill, our development part on a variety of options to ensure continuggpguof the raw material regardless of
result of these compliance issues and have alreledyified and audited an alternative API supplidgowever, changing suppliers is financii
expensive and is a timmnsuming process. As a result, we believe that Epproval of this product for the US market will elayed unt
2016.

In October 2014 we announced the submission of e&kdfiag Authorization Application (“MAA™)to the German Federal Institute for Dr
and Medical Devices (“BfArM"seeking European marketing approval of our oral fitin formulation of rizatriptan for acute migras, unde
the brand name RIZAPORT®. The brand nhame RIZAPORVE® also conditionally approved by the FDA as pthe NDA review proce:
in the U.S. The MAA was submitted under the Europkhutual Recognition Procedure with Germany asréference member state. -
submission is supported by several studies, inofu@ comparative bioavailability study which sucfely established the bioequivale:
between RIZAPORT®and the European reference drug. BfArM validatesl MtAA and initiated the formal review process oé tpplicatio
on November 25, 2014. BfArM's potential feedbadjareling the MAA is expected during the second ba015.
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INT0010/2006: We initially entered into an agreetnwith Cynapsus Therapeutics Inc. (formerly Canhaserapeutics Inc., “Cynapsusr
the development of a buccal muco-adhesive tabéetymt containing a cannabindigsed drug for the treatment of neuropathic pathreause
in cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. Aadinbiostudy undertaken in 2009 on the madiesive tablet developed by us and bas:
our proprietary AdVersa™ technology indicated imyd bioavailability and reduced firpass metabolization of the drug. In the fourth tps
of 2010, we acquired from Cynapsus full controlafd interest in, this project going forward. Wscabbtained worldwide rights to US Pa
7,592,328 and all corresponding foreign patents patnt applications to exclusively develop andhier provide intellectual prope
protection for this project.

INT0024/2010: An oral tablet product based on aappetary multilayer tablet technology is currgriti the development stage. An interac
study was conducted in the third quarter of 2012 yielded positive results. The product is intenétedthe treatment of idiopathic pulmon
fibrosis. The continuation of the project will deyeupon further guidance from our development aochroercialization partner, Paci
Therapeutics.

INT0027/2011: In accordance with a co-developmemnt eommercialization agreement with Par PharmacauG@ompanies, Inc. (“Par’yye
developed an oral controlledlease film product based on our proprietary Meitsg™ technology. The product is a generic formiolatol
buprenorphine and naloxone Sublingual Film, indidafor maintenance treatment of opioid dependeite reference listed drug
Suboxone® Sublingual Film. A bioequivalent film foulation was developed, scalag; and pivotal batches manufactured and testadgle
subsequent pivotal clinical study. An ANDA was fileith the FDA by Par in July 2013.

In August 2013 we learned that, in response tadilof the ANDA, we were hamed as a codefendant lemauit pursuant to Paragraph
litigation filed by Reckitt Benckiser Pharmaceuticand Monosol RX in the U.S. District Court foretiDistrict of Delaware allegit
infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 8,475,832 and B,JJH0, each of which relate to Suboxon®®e believe the ANDA product does not infrii
those or any other patents, and will vigorouslyedef ourselves in this matter. In accordance with tdirms of the cdevelopment ar
commercialization agreement, Par is financiallypoessible for the costs of this defense. Since PapdglV litigation is a regular part of t
ANDA process, we do not expect any unanticipatepkiot on our already planned development schedule.

INT0030/2011: An oral film product based on our grietary edible film technology is currently in tlievelopment stage. The produc
intended for the animal health market. An initieteptability study of the placebo in dogs indicateat the product is well accepted.

INT0036/2013: An oral film product based on ourgmietary edible film technology is currently in tbarly development stage. The produ
intended for the treatment of schizophrergkated disorders. Our first clinical study on tpieduct, completed in Q4 2014, suggested impr
bioavailability compared to the currently approvablet.

INT0037/2013: A product based on one of our prdprietechnologies has been developed and we arentiyrpreparing submission batc
in support of a marketing application to the FDAheT product is being developed in accordance witbther development a
commercialization agreement with Par Pharmaceutical In accordance with confidentiality clausestained in the agreement, the spec
of the product description, platform technology dindncial terms remain confidential.

INT0039/2013: A product based on one of our prdprie technologies is currently in the early develent stage. The product is be
developed in accordance with another developmedt @mmercialization agreement with Par Pharmacaytinc. In accordance wi
confidentiality clauses contained in the agreemtmd, specifics of the product description, platfar@ehnology and financial terms rem
confidential.

INT0040/2014: An oral film product based on our gmietary edible film technology is currently in tlearly development stage. In orde
protect our competitive advantage, no further #etsithe product can be disclosed at this stage.
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The current development status of each of our prisdas of the date of this report is summarizetiénfollowing table:

Product Indication Status of Development
INT0001/2004 CHF (Coronary Heart Failure), Pivotal development activities ongoing.
Hypertension

INTO004/2006 Antidepressant FDA-approved Noven#ierl. Commercially
launched in USA as Forfivo XL® in October 2012.

INTO007/2006 Erectile Dysfunction Product optimipatongoing.

INTO008/2007 Migraine NDA filed with FDA in March 2013. Currently working
to resolve API supply issues.Submitted MAA for
Europe in October 2014.

INT0010/2006 Cancer pain Formulation developmeigtoamy.

INT0024/2010 Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis Interaction study completed. On hold pending
instructions from partner.

INT0027/2011 Opioid dependence ANDA submitted toARD July 2013. Awaiting FDA
decision / approval

INT0030/2011 Animal health Formulation development ongoing.

INT0036/2012 Schizophrenia Formulation developnwargoing.

INT0037/2013 Undisclosed Product developed. Preparing manufacture of
submission batches.

INT0039/2013 Undisclosed Formulation developmergaimg.

INT0040/2013 Undisclosed Formulation development ongoing.

Growth Strategy

Our primary growth strategies include: (1) ideritify lifecycle management opportunities for existingrket leading pharmaceutical prodt
(2) developing generic drugs with high barrieretdry, (3) developing new drug delivery technolsgi@nd (4) manufacturing our VersaFilr
products for commercial sale.

Lifecycle Management Opportunities

We are seeking to position our delivery technolsge an opportunity for lifecycle management ofdpaas for which patent protection of
active ingredient is nearing expiration. While tretent for the underlying substance cannot be detbrpatent protection can be obtained
new and improved formulation by filing an applicatiwith the FDA under Section 505(b)(2) of the UF8deral Food, Drug and Cosmetic ,
Such applications, known as a “505(b)(2) NDAte permitted for new drug products that incorppraeviously approved active ingredie
even if the proposed new drug incorporates an appractive ingredient in a novel formulation or éonew indication. A 505(b)(2) NDA m
include information regarding safety and efficadyagproposed drug that comes from studies not octeduby or for the applicant. The fi
formulation for a respective active ingredient dilevith the FDA under a 505(b)(2) application mayalify for up to three years of marl
exclusivity upon approval. Based upon a review abtppartnerships between third party drug deliveoynpanies and pharmaceut
companies, management believes that drug delivergpanies which possess innovative technologieseteldp these special dos
formulations present an attractive opportunity agmaceutical companies. Accordingly, we believe5(®)(2) productstepresent a viak
business opportunity for us.

Generic Drugs with High Barriers to Entry

We plan to pursue the development of generic dtligshave certain barriers to entry, e.g., wheoglpet development and manufacturin
complex and can limit the number of potential emisanto the generic market. We plan to pursue quofects only if the number of poten
competitors is deemed relatively insignificant.



Development of New Drug Delivery Technologie

The rapidly disintegrating film technology containi@ our VersaFilm™, and our AdVersa™ mucosal atleetablet, are two examples of
efforts to develop alternate technology platforts.we work with various partners on different proty we seek opportunities to develop
proprietary technologies.

VersaFilm™ Manufacturing

We plan to establish a state-of-thg-manufacturing facility for the future manufaetof our VersaFilm™ products. We believe that (i)
represents a profitable business opportunity, (#)reduce our dependency upon thjpdrty contract manufacturers, thereby protecting
manufacturing process knolmow and intellectual property, and (3) allows usoffer our development partners a full service frpmduc
conception through to supply of the finished prdduc

Competition

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitivedas subject to the rapid emergence of new tedgie$, governmental regulatio
healthcare legislation, availability of financiratent litigation and other factors. Many of oumgetitors, including Monosol Rx, Tesabtec
GmbH, BioDelivery Sciences International, Inc. an@S Lohmann Therapy Systems Corp., have longer atiper histories and grea
financial, technical, marketing, legal and othesowces than we have. In addition, many of our aditggs have significantly grea
experience than we have in conducting clinicaldred pharmaceutical products, obtaining FDA arfieotregulatory approvals of products,
marketing and selling products that have been ajgkdNe expect that we will be subject to compatitirom numerous other companies
currently operate or are planning to enter the etsrka which we compete.

The key factors affecting the development and coriakzation of our drug delivery products are likéo include, among other factors:

« The safety and efficacy of our produc

* The relative speed with which we can develop prtsi

* Generic competition for any product that we deve

e Our ability to defend our existing intellectual pesty and to broaden our intellectual property sauthnology base
e Our ability to differentiate our product

* Our ability to develop products that can be manufsd on a cost effective bas

* Our ability to manufacture our products in comptiarwith current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMé&hd any other regulatory
requirements; an

e Our ability to obtain financing

In order to establish ourselves as a viable inglysartner, we plan to continue to invest in ouresgsh and development activities and in
manufacturing technology expertise, in order tothfer strengthen our technology base and to devidepability to manufacture @
VersaFilm™ products ourselves, and our VersaTab®&AatVersa™ products through our manufacturing gagnat competitive costs.

Our Competitive Strengths
We believe that our key competitive strengths idetu

e Our diversified pipeline
e Our ability to swiftly develop products throughregulatory approval; an
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« The versatility of our drug delivery technolo¢
Manufacturing Partnership

We currently manufacture products only for testiugposes in our own laboratories, and we do notuf@ature products for pivotal clinic
trials or for commercial use. In order to estabtisinselves as a full-service partner for our thilim fproducts, we plan to establish a state-of-th
art manufacturing facility for the commercial maacture of our VersaFilm™ drug delivery technologjersaFilm™ is our proprieta
immediate release polymeric film technology. le@nprised of a thin polymeric film using United @& Pharmacopeia (USP) components
are safe and approved by the FDA for use in fobdymaceutical and cosmetic products. VersaFilm™iges a patent-protected method of re
formulating approved pharmaceuticals in a more earent and discrete oral dosage form. We expeestablish our manufacturing facility
the third quarter of 2015.

We formed a strategic alliance with LTS Lohmann relpgeSysteme AG ("LTS") for the manufacturing of certpiroducts developed by
using our VersaFilm™ technology. LTS is regardec ggoneer in the development and production afsl@rmal and film form oral syste
and has become one of the world's leading supgdbeithe international pharmaceutical industry.

We formed a strategic manufacturing partnershijp Witlar5 Pharma Inc. (“Pillar5”)This manufacturing partnership secures the produaii
clinical test batches and commercial products for\eersaTab™ and AdVersa™ tablet products.

We are not currently a manufacturer and we do satlly purchase large quantities of raw materi@ist manufacturing partners, howe
may purchase significant quantities of raw materiabme of which may have long lead times. If raatarials cannot be supplied to

manufacturing partners in a timely and cost eflectnanner, our manufacturing partners may expegieletays in production that may lea
reduced supplies of commercial products being abklfor sale or distribution. Such shortages cdwalde a detrimental effect on sales of
products and a corresponding reduction on our tpyalenues earned.

Dependence on Major Customers

We currently rely on a few major customers for end products. We also currently depend upon adimnitumber of partners to develop
products, to provide funding for the developmentoaf products, to assist in obtaining regulatorprapals that are required in ordel
commercialize these products, and to market ah@seproducts.

Intellectual Property and Patent Protection

We protect our intellectual property and technolbgysing the following methods: (i) applying faatpnt protection in the United States ar
the appropriate foreign markets, (ii) ndisclosure agreements, license agreements andpafgteocontractual restrictions and controls or
distribution of information, and (iii) trade segetommon law trademark rights and trademark negishs. We plan to file core technolc
patents covering the use of our platform techneegi any pharmaceutical products.

We have obtained seven (7) patents and have aticeddithree (3) pending patent applications, edbed below. The patents expire 20 y
after submission of the initial application.
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Date submitted / issued /

Patent No. Title Subject expiration
US 6,231,957 Rapidly disintegrating  The composition, manufacturini Issued May 15, 2001
flavor wafer for flavor ~ and use of rapidly disintegrating Expires May 6, 2019

enrichment flavored films for releasing

flavors to certain substrates

US 6,660,292 Rapidly disintegrating  Composition and manufacturing Issued December 9, 2003
film for precooked of flavored films for releasing Expires June 19, 2021
foods flavors to precooked food

substrates
uUs 7,132,113 Flavored film Composition and manufacturin¢ Issued November 7, 2006

method of multi-layered films Expires April 16, 2022

US 8,691,272 Multilayer tablet Formulation of multilayered Issued April 8, 2014
tablets Expires January 28, 2033
UsS 8,703,191 Controlled release Formulation of tablets containin Issued April 22, 2014

pharmaceutical tablets bupropion and mecamylamine  Expires January 10, 2032

US 7,674,479 Sustained-release Formulation and method of Issued March 9, 2010
bupropion and making tablets containing Expires July 25, 2027
bupropion / bupropion and mecamylamine

mecamylamine tablets

US 8,735,374 Oral mucoadhesive Direct compression formulation Issued May 27, 2014

dosage form for buccal and sublingual dosa¢ Expires April 15, 2032
forms

US Appl. 12/963,132 Oral film dosage forms Optimization of film strip Filed December 8, 2010
and methods for making technology
same

US Appl. 13/079,348 Solid oral dosage form: Formulation of oral films Filed April 04, 2011
comprising tadalafil containing tadalafil

US 14/447,071 Instantly wettable oral  Formulation of oral films Filed July 30, 2013
film dosage form containing active pharmaceutical
without surfactant or ingredients
polyalcohol

Government Regulation

The pharmaceutical industry is highly regulatede Phnoducts we participate in developing requirgaterregulatory approvals. In the Uni
States, drugs are subject to rigorous regulatiotheyrDA. The U.S. Federal Food, Drug, and Cosn#atic and other federal and state stal
and regulations, govern, among other things, tlseach, development, testing, manufacture, stonsgerd keeping, packaging, labeli
adverse event reporting, advertising, promotionkeiing, distribution, and import and export of phaceutical products. Failure to com
with applicable regulatory requirements may subfecompany to a variety of administrative or judiigi-imposed sanctions and/or the inab
to obtain or maintain required approvals or to madeugs. The steps ordinarily required beforeva pearmaceutical product may be mark
in the United States include:
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« Preclinical laboratory tests, animal studies amthfdation studies under FLC's good laboratory practices regulations, or Gl

e The submission to the FDA of an investigational rirug application, or IND, which must become effextefore human clinical trie
may begin

« The completion of adequate and wedintrolled clinical trials according to good clialgpractice regulations, or GCPs, to establisl
safety and efficacy of the product for each indarafor which approval is sougr

» After successful completion of the required clihiessting, submission to the FDA of a NDA, or an BA, for generic drugs. In certe
cases, an application for marketing approval majuate information regarding safety and efficacyagfroposed drug that comes fi
studies not conducted by or for the applicant. Sagplications, known as a 505(b)(2) NDA, are peumditfor new drug products tl
incorporate previously approved active ingredieat®n if the proposed new drug incorporates anaagpr active ingredient in a no
formulation or for a new indicatiol

» Satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection of tmanufacturing facility or facilities at which theroduct is produced to ass
compliance with cGMPs to assure that the facilitasthods and controls are adequate to preservertigés identity, strength, quali
and purity; anc

« FDA review and approval of the NDA or AND,

The cost of complying with the foregoing requirentsgnincluding preparing and submitting an NDA or BA, may be substantii
Accordingly, we typically rely upon our partnerstime pharmaceutical industry to spearhead and theatosts of the FDA approval proct
We also seek to mitigate regulatory costs by fomusin 505(b)(2) NDA opportunities. By applying alnug delivery technology to existi
drugs, we seek to develop products with lower ne$e& development (“R&D”) expenses and shorter titoenarket timelines as comparec
regular NDA products.

Research and Development Expense

Our R&D expenses, net of R&D tax credits, for tleayended December 31, 2014 increased by $514ahdus $1,075 thousand, comp:
with $561 thousand for the year ended DecembeP@13. The increase in R&D expenditure is explaimethe section of this report entitl
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations”.

Environmental Regulatory Compliance

We believe that we are in compliance with environtakregulations applicable to our research analdgwnent facility located in Ville Saint-
Laurent, Quebec.

Employees

As of the date of this filing, we have 12 full-tineexd no partime employees. None of our employees are coveyecobective bargainin
agreements. We believe that our relations withesoployees are good.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Our business faces many risks. Any of the risksudied below, or elsewhere in this report or in other filings with the Securities a
Exchange Commissiof'SEC”), could have a material impact on our busiegBnancial condition, or results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Business
We continue to sustain losses and our revenues aret sufficient to sustain our operations.

Even though we ceased being a “development stegeipany in April 2006, we are still subject to aflthe risks associated with havin
limited operating history and pursuing the develeptmof new products. Our cash flows may be insigffitto meet expenses relating to
operations and the development of our businessiraydbe insufficient to allow us to develop newdrcts. We currently conduct research
development using our proprietary platform techgase to develop oral controlled release and ottedively products. We do not kne
whether we will be successful in the developmenswath products. We have an accumulated deficippfaximately $17,848 thousand si
our inception in 2003 through December 31, 2014date, these losses have been financed princiffatbpigh sales of equity securities. 1
revenues for the past five years ended Decembe&t(@Y, December 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, Deze®ih 2011 and December 31, 2
were $1.7 million, $948 thousand, $1,198 thous&ddp thousand, and $1,337 thousand respectivelyré@anues in 2013 consisted primg
of royalty income and the amortization of deferredenue related to the commercialization of Forfid®, our first FDA-approved produc
which was commercialized in October 2012, and rules payments related to the development of ousdEm™ products. Reven
generated to date has not been sufficient to sustaioperations. In order to achieve profitabjliyr revenue streams will have to increase
there is no assurance that revenues will increasadh a leve
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We may incur losses associated with foreign curregdluctuations.

The majority of our expenses are paid in Canadd@tas, while a significant portion of our revenws® in U.S. dollars. Our financial res
are subject to the impact of currency exchangefhattuations. Adverse movements in exchange radegd have a material adverse effec
our financial condition and results of operations.

We may need additional capital to fulfill our busiress strategies. We may also incur unforeseen costailure to obtain such capita
would adversely affect our business.

We will need to expend significant capital in ordercontinue with our research and development ibyndhadditional research staff ¢
acquiring additional equipment. If our cash flowsn operations are insufficient to fund our expdatapital needs, or our needs are gr
than anticipated, we may be required to raise ghdit funds in the future through private or pulslédes of equity securities or the incurrenc
indebtedness. Additional funding may not be avédélain favorable terms, or at all. If we borrow adutial funds, we likely will be obligated
make periodic interest or other debt service paymand may be subject to additional restrictiveecmnts. If we fail to obtain sufficie
additional capital in the future, we could be fatde curtail our growth strategy by reducing orag@hg capital expenditures, selling asse
downsizing or restructuring our operations. If vaése additional funds through public or privateesabf equity securities, the sales may |
prices below the market price of our stock andshareholders may suffer significant dilution.

The loss of the services of key personnel would aghgely affect our business.

Our future success depends to a significant degneine skills, experience and efforts of our exieeudbfficers and senior management s
The loss of the services of existing personnel @ detrimental to our research and developmegirams and to our overall business.

We are dependent on business partners to conducirdkal trials of, obtain regulatory approvals for, and manufacture, market, and se
our controlled release products.

We depend heavily on our pharmaceutical partnepayofor part or all of the research and developgregpenses associated with developi
new product and to obtain approval from regulatowgies such as the FDA to commercialize these ptsdWe also depend on our partne
distribute these products after receiving regulatgpproval. Our revenues from research and devedapfees, milestone payments and roy
fees are derived from our partners. Our inabilityfihd pharmaceutical partners who are willing &ty pus these fees in order to develop
products would negatively impact our business amdcash flows.

We have limited experience in manufacturing, maneand selling pharmaceutical products. Accordinglwe cannot maintain our existi
partnerships or establish new partnerships witpeetsto our other products in development, we hadle to establish our own capabilitie:
discontinue the commercialization of the affecteadpict. Developing our own capabilities would b@exsive and time consuming and ct
delay the commercialization of the affected prod@ibiere can be no assurance that we would be @blevielop these capabilities.

Our existing agreements with pharmaceutical ingusairtners are generally subject to terminatiorih@ycounterparty on short notice upon
occurrence of certain circumstances, including,rmitlimited to, the following: a determination thhe product in development is not likely
be successfully developed or not likely to receiegulatory approval; our failure to satisfy our ightions under the agreement, or
occurrence of a bankruptcy event. If any of outpenships are terminated, we may be required totdeadditional resources to the prod
seek a new partner on short notice, or abandoprtbduct development efforts. The terms of any amlu# partnerships or other arrangem
that we establish may not be favorable to us.

We are also at risk that these partnerships or @trangements may not be successful. Factorsithataffect the success of our partners
include the following:
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» Our partners may incur financial and c-flow difficulties that force them to limit or redacheir participation in our joint project

e Our partners may be pursuing alternative technetogr developing alternative products that are aditie to our product, either
their own or in partnership with othe

* Our partners may reduce marketing or sales effortgliscontinue marketing or sales of our produetsich may reduce our reveni
received on the produci

« Our partners may have difficulty obtaining the ravaterials to manufacture our products in a timelg aost effective manner
experience delays in production, which could affeetsales of our products and our royalty reveeaesed

e Our partners may terminate their partnerships wih This could make it difficult for us to attrawtw partners or adversely aff
perception of us in the business and financial camities;

* Our partners may pursue higher priority programshange the focus of their development programsctwbould affect the partnes’
commitment to us. Pharmaceutical and biotechnologmpanies historically have esaluated their priorities from time to tir
including following mergers and consolidations,canenon occurrence in recent years; .

e Our partners may become the target of litigatianpfiarported patent or intellectual property infémgent, which could delay or prohi
commercialization of our products and which wowdduce our revenue from such produ

We face competition in our industry, and many of oucompetitors have substantially greater experiencand resources than we do.

We compete with other companies within the drugiveey industry, many of which have more capital, rem@xtensive research ¢
development capabilities and greater human ressuhan we do. Some of these drug delivery compstiteclude Monosol Rx, Tedaabtec
GmbH, BioDelivery Sciences International, Inc. difiS Lohmann Therapy Systems Corp. Our competitoay atevelop new or enhanc
products or processes that may be more effectgs, éxpensive, safer or more readily available #mynproducts or processes that we dev
or they may develop proprietary positions that préws from being able to successfully commeraafiew products or processes tha
develop. As a result, our products or processesmagompete successfully, and research and dewelopby others may render our prod
or processes obsolete or uneconomical. Competitimpincrease as technological advances are madepamdercial applications broaden.

We rely upon third-party manufacturers, which puts us at risk for supplier business interruptions.

We have entered into agreements with third partgufecturers to manufacture certain of our prodootse we complete development and i
we receive regulatory approval. If our thipdsty manufacturers fail to perform, our abilityrt@rket products and to generate revenue wot
adversely affected. Our failure to deliver produats timely manner could lead to the dissatistaciof our distribution partners and dam
our reputation, causing our distribution partnersancel existing agreements with us and to stamdausiness with us.

The thirdparty manufacturers that we depend on to manufacur products are required to adhere to FDA rdigms regarding cGMP, whi
include testing, control and documentation requéets. Ongoing compliance with cGMP and other rdgwjarequirements is monitored
periodic inspection by the FDA and comparable agsnio other countries. Failure by our thpdrty manufacturers to comply with cGMP
other regulatory requirements could result in ati@against them by regulatory agencies and jegpamir ability to obtain products ol
timely basis.

We plan to establish our own manufacturing facilityfor the future manufacture of VersaFilm™ products, which requires considerabls
financial investment and, if we are unsuccessfuloald have a material adverse effect on our businesBnancial condition or results o
operations.

We currently manufacture products only for tesfigposes in our own laboratories and we do not fie@ture products for commercial use
order to establish ourselves as a fdhvice partner for our thin film products we ptaninvest approximately $6 million during the coaiis
the next 12 months to establish a state-ofatiemanufacturing facility for the commercial maaciure of products developed using
VersaFilm™ drug delivery technology.
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We have limited expertise in establishing a manufaeg facility and although we have contractedmvatchitects, engineers and construc
contractors specialized in the planning and constm of pharmaceutical facilities, there can begnarantee that the project can be compl
or within the time or budget allocated. In additieve may be unable to attract suitably qualifiedspanel for our manufacturing facility
acceptable terms and conditions of employment.

In addition, before we can begin commercial mantufacof our VersaFilm™ products for sale in the tgdi States, we must obtain F
regulatory approval for the product, which requiaesuccessful FDA inspection of our manufacturegjlities, processes and quality systen
addition to other productlated approvals. Further, pharmaceutical manufags facilities are continuously subject to insj@t by the FDA
before and after product approval. Due to the cexipyl of the processes used to manufacture ouraire™ products, we may be una
initially or at any future time to pass federahtstor international regulatory inspections in at@fective manner. If we are unable to cor
with manufacturing regulations, we may be subjedirtes, unanticipated compliance expenses, recakizure of any approved products, 1
or partial suspension of production and/or enforeenactions, including injunctions, and criminalcoril prosecution.

The manufacture of our products is heavily regdalby governmental health authorities, including #BA. We must ensure that
manufacturing processes comply with current Goodiacturing Practices (“cGMP’@nd other applicable regulations. In recent ydzea]tt
authorities have intensified their scrutiny of miamturers' compliance with such requirements, amedrecreasingly challenging practices
were previously considered acceptable. If we faitamply fully with these requirements and the thealithorities' expectations, then we ct
be required to shut down our production facilittesproduction lines, or could be prevented from aming our products from one country
another. This could lead to product shortagesp @ur being entirely unable to supply productsatignts for an extended period of time. £
shortages or shut downs could lead to significastés of sales revenue and to potential théndy litigation. In addition, health authoritieavs
in some cases imposed significant penalties foh $aitures to comply with cGMP. A failure to complylly with cGMP could also lead tc
delay in the approval of new products to be mariufad at our manufacturing facility.

Any disruption in the supply of our future productsuld have a material adverse effect on our bssinénancial condition or results
operations.

We have no timely ability to replace our future VesaFilm™ manufacturing capabilities.

If our manufacturing facility suffers any type afoponged interruption, whether caused by regulaftdion, equipment failure, critical facil
services, fire, natural disaster or any other ettt causes the cessation of manufacturing desyitve would be exposed to loterm loss ¢
sales and profits. There are no facilities capableontract manufacturing our VersaFilm™ produdtsteort notice. If we suffer an interrupt
to our manufacturing of VersaFilm products, we rhaye to find a contract manufacturer capable oplsimg our needs, although this wo
require completing a Manufacturing Site Change @se¢ which takes considerable time and is costgpld®ement of our manufactur
capabilities will have a material adverse effecban business and financial condition or resultedrations.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers for AP1.Generally, only a single source of API is qualifié for use in each product due t
the costs and time required to validate a second swe of supply. Changes in API suppliers must usubi be approved through a Priol
Approval Supplement by the FDA.

Our ability to manufacture products is dependenpart, upon ingredients and components supplieothgrs, including international supplie
Any disruption in the supply of these ingredientscomponents or any problems in their quality coualdterially affect our ability 1
manufacture our products and could result in Idigallities that could materially affect our abylito realize profits or otherwise harm

business, financial, and operating results. AsARe¢ typically comprises the majority of a produatgnufactured cost, and qualifying
alternative is costly and time-consuming, API sigsglmust be selected carefully based on quabfiglility of supply and longerm financia
stability.

We are subject to extensive government regulatiomcluding the requirement of approval before our pralucts may be marketed. Even
we obtain marketing approval, our products will besubject to ongoing regulatory review.

We, our partners, our products, and our productlidates are subject to extensive regulation by gowental authorities in the United St
and other countries. Failure to comply with apfiearequirements could result in warning letteise$ and other civil penalties, delay:
approving or refusal to approve a product candjdateduct recall or seizure, withdrawal of prodapprovals, interruption of manufacturing
clinical trials, operating restrictions, injunctirand criminal prosecution.
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Our products cannot be marketed in the United Staiéhout FDA approval. Obtaining FDA approval r@qa substantial time, effort, a
financial resources, and there can be no assutaatany approval will be granted on a timely basiat all. We rely on our partners for
preparation of applications and for obtaining regody approvals. If the FDA does not approve owdpct candidates in a timely fashion
does not approve them at all, our business anddiahcondition may be adversely affected. Furthiee, terms of approval of any market
application, including the labeling content, mayrhere restrictive than we desire and could affbet marketability of our or our partne
products. Subsequent discovery of problems withapproved product may result in restrictions on pineduct or its withdrawal from tl
market. In addition, both before and after reguiatipproval, we, our partners, our products, andpooduct candidates are subject to nume
FDA requirements covering testing, manufacturingialify control, cGMP, adverse event reporting, ladge advertising, promotio
distribution, and export. Our partners and we algest to surveillance and periodic inspectionadoertain compliance with these regulati
Further, the relevant law and regulations may changvays that could affect us, our partners, @adpcts, and our product candidates. Fa
to comply with regulatory requirements could havaaerial adverse impact on our business.

Regulations regarding the manufacture and saleuoffiture products are subject to change. We capredict what impact, if any, su
changes may have on our business, financial conditf results of operations. Failure to comply végplicable regulatory requirements cc
have a material adverse effect on our businesadial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, the time required for obtaining regtdry approval is uncertain. We may encounter delay product rejections based u
changes in FDA policies, including cGMP, duringipds of product development. We may encounter aintielays in countries outside of
United States. We may not be able to obtain thegelatory acceptances on a timely basis, or at all.

The failure to obtain timely regulatory acceptané®ur products, any product marketing limitationsany product withdrawals would hav
material adverse effect on our business, finarmaldition and results of operations. In additioaefdpe it grants approvals, the FDA or
foreign regulatory authority may impose numerouseotrequirements with which we must comply. Regulatacceptance, if granted, n
include significant limitations on the indicatedessfor which the product may be marketed. FDA amorent policy strictly prohibits tl
marketing of accepted products for unapproved Wesgluct acceptance could be withdrawn or civilandriminal sanctions could be impo:
for our failure to comply with regulatory standamtsthe occurrence of unforeseen problems folloviitipl marketing.

We may not be able to expand or enhance our existimproduct lines with new products limiting our ability to grow.

If we are not successful in the development andbéhiction of new products, our ability to grow wile impeded. We may not be abl:
identify products to enhance or expand our protnes. Even if we can identify potential produaisr investment in research and developi
might be significant before we could bring the proid to market. Moreover, even if we identify agtal product and expend signific
dollars on development, we may never be able trghitie product to market or achieve market acceptéor such product. As a result, we t
never recover our expenses.

The market may not be receptive to products incorprating our drug delivery technologies.

The commercial success of any of our productsadhatapproved for marketing by the FDA and otheulegry authorities will depend up
their acceptance by the medical community and thandy payers as clinically useful, caftective and safe. To date, only two products d
upon our technologies have been marketed in théerstates, which limits our ability to provide dance or assurance as to me
acceptance.

Factors that we believe could materially affect kedacceptance of these products include:

e The timing of the receipt of marketing approvald #ime countries in which such approvals are obthi
« The safety and efficacy of the product as comptyempetitive product:

e The relative convenience and ease of administrasocompared to competitive produr

« The strength of marketing distribution support; .

* The cos-effectiveness of the product and the ability tceree third party reimbursemet

We are subject to environmental regulations and anfailure to comply may result in substantial finesand sanctions.
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Our operations are subject to Canadian and intematenvironmental laws and regulations governamgpng other things, emissions to
discharges to waters and the generation, handlilogage, transportation, treatment and disposaawfmaterials, waste and other mater
Many of these laws and regulations provide for garigal fines and criminal sanctions for violationge believe that we are and have t
operating our business and facility in a mannet ¢oanplies in all material respects with environtagrhealth and safety laws and regulati
however, we may incur material costs or liabilitiese fail to operate in full compliance. We dotmoaintain environmental damage insur
coverage with respect to the products which we rzanture.

We may have to make significant expenditures inftiigre to comply with evolving environmental, hibadnd safety requirements, includ
new requirements that may be adopted or imposeheirfuture. To meet changing licensing and regwastandards, we may have to m
significant additional site or operational modificas that could involve substantial expendituresemluction or suspension of some of
operations. We cannot be certain that we haveiftehtll environmental and health and safety nratedfecting our activities and in the fut
our environmental, health and safety problems,thadosts to remediate them, may be materiallytgreban we expect.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
If we are not able to adequately protect our inteltctual property, we may not be able to compete effgvely.

Our success depends, to a significant degree, thgoprotection of our proprietary technologies. Whve currently own seven U.S. patents
have applied for three U.S. patents, we will neegursue additional protection for our intellectpabperty as we develop new products
enhance existing products. We may not be able tairolappropriate protection for our intellectuabperty in a timely manner, or at all. (
inability to obtain appropriate protections for ootellectual property may allow competitors toembur markets and produce or sell the ¢
or similar products.

If we are forced to resort to legal proceedingsritorce our intellectual property rights, the prediags could be burdensome and expensiy
addition, our proprietary rights could be at rilwe are unsuccessful in, or cannot afford to peyrsiaose proceedings.

We also rely on trade secrets and contract lawdtept some of our proprietary technology. We hentered into confidentiality and invent
agreements with our employees and consultants. rifeless, these agreements may not be honorechapdrtay not effectively protect ¢
right to our un-patented trade secrets and khow: Moreover, others may independently developsisutiially equivalent propriete
information and techniques or otherwise gain actessir trade secrets and know-how.

In 1995, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office astbphanges to the U.S. patent law that made the @élissued patents 20 years from
date of filing rather than 17 years from the daftéssuance, subject to specified transition perid@isginning in June 1995, the patent t
became 20 years from the earliest effective filifage of the underlying patent application. Thesenges may reduce the effective terr
protection for patents that are pending for moemtthree years. While we cannot predict the effeattthese changes will have on our busil
they could have a material adverse effect on oilityato protect our proprietary information. Fuetmore, the possibility of extensive delay
the patent issuance process could effectively redhue term during which a marketed product is tetk by patents.

We may need to obtain licenses to patents or qitoprietary rights from third parties. We may netdble to obtain the licenses required u
any patents or proprietary rights or they may rotaailable on acceptable terms. If we do not abtaguired licenses, we may encou
delays in product development or find that the ttgw@ent, manufacture or sale of products requitiognses could be foreclosed. We n
from time to time, support and collaborate in resea@onducted by universities and governmentalare$eorganizations. We may not be ab
acquire exclusive rights to the inventions or tecaininformation derived from these collaboratioasid disputes may arise over right
derivative or related research programs conducyagstor our partners.

If we infringe on the rights of third parties, we may not be able to sell our products, and we may havo defend against litigation an
pay damages.

If a competitor were to assert that our productsrige on its patent or other intellectual propetityhts, we could incur substantial litigat
costs and be forced to pay substantial damages. IBigation costs could be as a result of dirg@@adtion against us, or as a result of litiga
against one or more of our partners to whom we lcan¢ractually agreed to indemnify in the event thar intellectual property is the caust

a successful litigious action against our partrigrird-party infringement claims, regardless of their oute, would not only consur
significant financial resources, but would alsoedtvour managemeist'time and attention. Such claims could also causecustomers
potential customers to purchase competitpreéducts or defer or limit their purchase or useoof affected products until resolution of
claim. If any of our products are found to viol#h&d-party intellectual property rights, we mayhéao reengineer one or more of our produ
or we may have to obtain licenses from third part continue offering our products without sub8tdrre-engineering. Our efforts to re-
engineer or obtain licenses could require signifiexpenditures and may not be successful.
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Our controlled release products that are generic wsions of branded controlled release products thaere covered by one or mor
patents may be subject to litigation, which could dlay FDA approval and commercial launch of our prodicts.

We expect to file or have our partners file NDAsAMDASs for our controlled release products undevedepment that are covered by oni
more patents of the branded product. It is likblgttthe owners of the patents covering the brantenaroduct or the sponsors of the NDA\
respect to the branded product will sue or undertaigulatory initiatives to preserve marketing asolity. Any significant delay in obtainii
FDA approval to market our products as a resulitigiation, as well as the expense of such litigatiwhether or not we or our partners
successful, could have a materially adverse effeaiur business, financial condition and resultsprations.

Risks Related to Our Securities:
The price of our common stock could be subject tagnificant fluctuations.
Any of the following factors could affect the matkweice of our common stock:

* Our failure to achieve and maintain profitabili

* Changes in earnings estimates and recommendatydiirsalncial analysts

« Actual or anticipated variations in our quartergults of operation:

e Changes in market valuations of similar compar

< Announcements by us or our competitors of significntracts, new products, acquisitions, commerelationships, joint ventures or
capital commitments

e The loss of major customers or product or compogseppliers

* The loss of significant partnering relationshipsgl

* General market, political and economic conditic

We have a significant number of convertible semsgibutstanding that could be exercised in theréut8ubsequent resale of these and
shares could cause our stock price to decline. Thisd also make it more difficult to raise fundsazceptable levels pursuant to fu
securities offerings.

Our common stock is a high risk investment.

Our common stock was quoted on the OTC BulletinrBaader the symbol “IGXTfrom January 2007 until June 2012 and, subseqoeatl
upgrade in June 2012, has been quoted on the OTOQXcommon stock has also been listed on the T8xwe Exchange under the syn
“IGX” since May 2008.

There is a limited trading market for our commowockt which may affect the ability of shareholdayseéll our common stock and the price
which they may be able to sell our common stock.

The market price of our common stock has been il®land fluctuates widely in response to variougdes which are beyond our control.
price of our common stock is not necessarily intieaof our operating performance or long term hasg prospects. In addition, the secul
markets have from time to time experienced sigaificprice and volume fluctuations that are unreldte the operating performance
particular companies. These market fluctuations alay materially and adversely affect the markitepof our common stock.
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In the United States, our common stock is consilargpenny stock”. The SEC has adopted regulatidrish generally define a “penny stock”
to be an equity security that has a market pricless than $5.00 per share or an exercise pritessfthan $5.00 per share, subject to spi
exemptions. This designation requires any brokedealer selling these securities to disclose aeitdformation concerning the transact
obtain a written agreement from the purchaser aterohine that the purchaser is reasonably suitalpperchase the securities. These rules
restrict the ability of brokers or dealers to it common stock and may affect the ability of stees to sell their shares.

As a result of the foregoing, our common stock #théwe considered a high risk investment.

The application of the “penny stock” rules to our common stock could limit the trading ad liquidity of our common stock, adversel
affect the market price of our common stock and inease stockholder transaction costs to sell thoskases.

As long as the trading price of our common stockdlbw $5.00 per share, the open market tradirmuoitommon stock will be subject to
“penny stock” rules, unless we otherwise qualifyda exemption from the “penny stock” definitiorhel“penny stock’tules impose addition
sales practice requirements on certain bralealers who sell securities to persons other tlstabbshed customers and accredited inve
(generally those with assets in excess of $1,000d@0annual income exceeding $200,000 or $300,6Q6ther with their spouse). Th
regulations, if they apply, require the deliveryiop to any transaction involving a penny stock,aoflisclosure schedule explaining the pe
stock market and the associated risks. Under ttezgdations, certain brokers who recommend suctrriéess to persons other than estabilis
customers or certain accredited investors must naakpecial written suitability determination regagdsuch a purchaser and receive !
purchasers written agreement to a transaction prior to Sethese regulations may have the effect of limitimg trading activity of our comm:
stock, reducing the liquidity of an investment ur @ommon stock and increasing the transactiorsdostsales and purchases of our com
stock as compared to other securities.

We became public by means of a reverse merger, aag a result we are subject to the risks associatedth the prior activities of the
public company with which we merged. In addition, veé may not be able to attract the attention of majobrokerage firms or institutional
buyers.

Additional risks may exist because we became publmugh a "reverse merger" with a shell corporatdlthough the shell did not have rec
or past operations or assets and we performed alilgence review of the public company, there @nno assurance that we will not
exposed to undisclosed liabilities resulting frdm prior operations of our company. Security artalgé major brokerage firms and securi
institutions may not cover us or recommend the lpage of our common stock. No assurance can be gie¢restablished brokerage firms:
want to conduct any financings for us in the future

Our limited cash resources restrict our ability topay cash dividends.

Since our inception, we have not paid any cashddivils on our common stock. We currently intendetain future earnings, if any, to supj
operations and to finance the growth and developroEour business. Therefore, we do not expectay gash dividends in the foresee:
future. Any future determination relating to ouwidiend policy will be made at the discretion of @ward of Directors and will depend o
number of factors, including future earnings, capiequirements, financial conditions and futurespect and other factors that the Boat
Directors may deem relevant. If we do not pay amjddnds on our common stock, our shareholdershlhble to profit from an investm
only if the price of the stock appreciates beftwe shareholder sells it. Investors seeking castetids should not purchase our common stocl

If we are the subject of securities analyst report®r if any securities analyst downgrades our commostock or our sector, the price ¢
our common stock could be negatively affected.

Securities analysts may publish reports about usipindustry containing information about us thety affect the trading price of our comn
stock. In addition, if a securities or industry s downgrades the outlook for our stock or onewf competitorsstocks, the trading price
our common stock may also be negatively affected.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We currently occupy 3,500 square feet of leasedespa a rate of CAD$8.88/square foot in an indakizone at 6425 Abrams, Staurent
Quebec, Canada under a five year renewable leaseragnt signed in 2004. We expanded our laboratodyoffice space at this facility to
maximum during the second quarter of 2006. We @lddrthe term of the lease agreement to, most lgcéimt day immediately preceding
fulfillment of certain conditions relating to the@ipation of new leased premises at 6420 Abramsin@mncing in the third quarter of 2015,
plan to occupy approximately 17,000 square fedeaded space at a base rent of approximately CAD$idusand annually for the first t
years of a ten year and 6 months renewable leaseragnt. The base rent increases at CAD$0.25 peresdoot every two years. We plar
utilize approximately 9,500 square feet of the rfawility to establish manufacturing capabilities four thin film VersaFilm™ produci
approximately 4,000 square feet for our R&D aciidgt and approximately 3,500 square feet for acstration.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In August 2013 we announced receipt of a ParagidpPertification Letter from Wockhardt Bio AG, ading of the submission of an ANL
to the FDA requesting authorization to manufactamel market generic versions of Forfivo XL450 mg capsules in the United States
November 2014 we announced that the Paragraphtiation with Wockhardt had been settled and thatjer the terms of the settlem
effective November 26, 2014, Wockhardt has beemntgdathe rights, with effect from January 15, 20t8pe the exclusive marketer
distributor of an authorized generic of Forfivo Xli®the U.S.

In August 2013 we learned that, in response toJtilg 2013 filing of an ANDA by Par, for our genefiermulation of buprenorphine a
naloxone Sublingual Film, indicated for maintenatreatment of opioid dependence, we were namedcasiefendant in a lawsuit pursuan
Paragraph IV litigation filed by Reckitt BenckisBharmaceuticals and Monosol RX in the U.S. Dist@ourt for the District of Delawa
alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 8,475,884 8,017,150, each of which relate to SuboxoMg®believe the ANDA product does
infringe those or any other patents, and will vigesly defend ourselves in this matter. In accordamith the terms of the cdevelopment ar
commercialization agreement, Par is financiallypmesible for the costs of this defense. Since RapdglV litigation is a regular part of t
ANDA process, we do not expect any unanticipategbioh on our already planned development schedule.

There are no additional material pending legal @edings to which we are a party or to which anguwf property is subject and to the bes
our knowledge, no such additional actions agaiastra contemplated or threatened.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable

20




PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT' S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock was quoted on the OTC BulletinrBaader the symbol “IGXTfrom January 2007 until June 2012 and, subseqoeatl
upgrade in June 2012, has been quoted on the OTOQXcommon stock has also been listed on the T8xwe Exchange under the syn
“IGX” since May 2008. The table below sets forth the haglkd low bid prices of our common stock as repoftgdthe OTC Bulleti
Board/OTCQX and the TSX for the periods indicat€tdese prices represent intdgaler quotations without retail markup, markdowr
commission and may not necessarily represent atraredactions.

OTCQX/OTCBB TSX-V
High Low High Low
(US.9) (US.9) (CADS$) (CADS$)

2014

Fourth Quarte $ 0.6¢ $ 03¢ $ 0.7t % 0.3¢
Third Quartel $ 0.7t $ 0.4¢ $ 08 $ 0.5(C
Second Quarte $ 1.0e $ 0.6¢ 3 1.1z % 0.7:2
First Quarte! $ 1.0t % 05¢ $ 1.1¢ $ 0.5%
2013

Fourth Quarte $ 057 % 04¢ $ 06C $ 0.5¢
Third Quartel $ 07: % 0.4¢ $ 07¢ % 0.51
Second Quarte $ 0.7¢C $ 05: % 0.7¢C % 0.5¢
First Quarte! $ 0.7t 3 04t 3 0.7: 3 0.4¢

Number of Shareholders

On March 20, 2015 there were approximately 50 hslag record of our common stock, one of which vzedle & Co., a nominee 1
Depository Trust Company, and one of which was CTheadian Depository for Securities Limited, or C[38.of our common shares held
brokerage firms, banks and other financial ingtg in the United States and Canada as nominedsefeficial owners are considered tc
held of record by Cede & Co. in respect of brokerfigns, banks and other financial institutionghie United States, and by CDS in respe
brokerage firms, banks and other financial ingtitug located in Canada. Cede & Co. and CDS are eacsidered to be one shareholde
record.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsuo common stock. We currently intend to retaig aarnings to support operations
to finance the growth and development of our bussin&@herefore, we do not expect to pay cash didslém the foreseeable future. Any ful
determination relating to our dividend policy wile made at the discretion of our Board of Directord will depend on a number of fact
including future earnings, capital requirementsaficial conditions and future prospect and othetofa that the board of directors may d
relevant.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Afiated Purchasers
During the fourth quarter of 2014, there were nchases or repurchases of our equity securitiasty any affiliated purchasers.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use Bfoceeds

During fiscal 2014, we did not sell equity secestiwithout registration under the Securities Aci®83, as amended, except as disclosec
Current Report on Form 8-K.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Not applicable

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITIONS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Introduction to Management'’s Discussion and Analys

The purpose of this section, Manageme&miscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &esults of Operations, is to provide a narti
explanation of the financial statements that ermblgestors to better understand our businessnharee our overall financial disclosure
provide the context within which our financial imfioation may be analyzed, and to provide informatwout the quality of, and poten
variability of, our financial condition, results ofperations and cash flows. Unless otherwise inelitaall financial and statistical informat
included herein relates to our continuing operaiddnless otherwise indicated or the context otiserwequires, the words]ritelGenx
“Company”, “we”, “us”, and “our”refer to IntelGenx Technologies Corp. and its dilibsies, including IntelGenx Corp. This informat
should be read in conjunction with the accompanyndited Consolidated Financial Statements andd\tbreto.

Company Background

We are a drug delivery company established in 20@8headquartered in Montreal, Quebec, Canadafd@us is on the development of nc
oral immediate-release and controliedease products for the pharmaceutical market. liusiness strategy is to develop pharmace!
products based on our proprietary drug delivershitetogies and, once the viability of a product lbeen demonstrated, to license
commercial rights to partners in the pharmaceuticdlistry. In certain cases, we rely upon partierthe pharmaceutical industry to fu
development of the licensed products, completerégrilatory approval process with the FDA or othegulatory agencies relating to
licensed products, and assume responsibility faketang and distributing such products.

In addition, we may choose to pursue the developwiecertain products until the project reachesrttegketing and distribution stage. We !
assess the potential for successful developmeatpobduct and associated costs, and then deteanimkich stage it is most prudent to se
partner, balancing such costs against the potdntialdditional returns earned by partnering latehe development process.

We have also undertaken a strategy under which Wewark with pharmaceutical companies in orderdevelop new dosage forms
pharmaceutical products for which patent protecisonearing expiration. Under Section 505(b)(2}t# Food, Drug, and Cosmetics Act,
FDA may grant market exclusivity for a term of upthree years following approval of a listed drbgttcontains previously approved ac
ingredients but is approved in a new dosage, dofage route of administration or combination, or & new use, the approval of which "
required to be supported by new clinical trialfiestthan bioavailability studies, conducted byarthe sponsor.

We are currently continuing to develop the existimgducts in our pipeline and may also perform aese and development on other pote
products as opportunities arise.

We plan to establish a state-of-thg-manufacturing facility for the future manufaetof our VersaFilm™ products. We believe that (i)
represents a profitable business opportunity, (#)reduce our dependency upon thjpdrty contract manufacturers, thereby protecting
intellectual property, and (3) allows us to offer development partners a full service from prodwsetception through to supply of the finis
product.

We currently purchase and/or lease, on anegsied basis, the equipment necessary for perfgrresearch and development activities rel
to our products.

We plan to hire new personnel in the areas of rekeand development, manufacturing, and administradn an asieeded basis as we el
into partnership agreements, establish our VensdFilmanufacturing facility, and increase our reseantd development activities.
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Key Developments

There were a number of key events in the stratdgi@lopment of our company throughout 2014, andement to the end of the year, n
notably:

Product-related
Anti-depressant tablet, Forfivo XL®

Forfivo XL®, our first FDA approved product, was launched indbet 2012 and is being marketed in the United Stateler the tern
of a license agreement between us and EdgemonimBbauticals. Forfivo XL@is indicated for the treatment of Major Depres
Disorder (“MDD”) and is the only extended-releasgtopion HCI product to provide a ondaily, 450mg dose in a single tablet.
active ingredient in Forfivo XL® is bupropion, tleame active ingredient used in the welbwn antidepressant product Wellbu
XL®. Prior to the launch of Forfivo XL®most patients in the US requiring a 450mg doseupfdpion had been taking multiple tab
to achieve their 450mg dose requirement. With ForKL® now available in the US, these patients can simii€ir dosing regimen
a single Forfivo XL tablet, once-daily.

The commercialization of Forfivo XL® triggered latmrelated milestone payments to us of up to $4.0anillof which $1 million wa
received following commercial launch in October 20Based on current trends, Management expectshthaemaining $3 million wi
be earned in fiscal 2015. Additional milestonesupfto a further $23.5 million are due upon achigvaertain sales and exclusiy
targets. We also receive tiered, double-digit, igs on net sales of Forfivo XL®. We recorded totvenue for Forfivo XL®in 201¢
of approximately $1.1 million, compared with $49@tisand in 2013.

The level of sales achieved for Forfivo XLi® 2014 improved significantly when compared to fhrevious year. According
Symphony Health Solutions, a recognized marketarebefirm, gross sales of Forfivo XL&taled $8.9 million in the year end
December 31st, 2014 representing an increase 8b280npared with sales of $2.7 million in the prengd/ear. The number of Forfi
XL® prescriptions filled increased by 123% from apgmately 16,761 in 2013 to 30,378 in 2014. Therage month-omaonth growtl
rate of Forfivo XL® throughout 2014 exceeded 9%. Management anticightestrend to continue throughout 2015 and ex|
significantly higher revenue from the sales of ka@rfXL® in 2015.

In August 2013 we announced receipt of a ParaghdpPertification Letter from Wockhardt Bio AG, ading of the submission of
ANDA to the FDA requesting authorization to mandfee and market generic versions of Forfivo Xd®0 mg capsules in the Uni
States. In November 2014 we announced that thegRgnta IV litigation with Wockhardt had been settiettl that, under the terms of
settlement, Wockhardt has been granted the righitis,effect from January 15, 2018, to be the exgkisnarketer and distributor of
authorized generic of Forfivo XL® in the U.S.

In December 2014 we announced that Edgemont hadiseé its right to extend the license for the egitle marketing of Forfivo X®
450 mg tablets. In exchange, we received milespayenents of $650 thousand in December 2014 and $@Q&and in February 20
All other financial obligations contained in thednse agreement entered into by Edgemont and kmel{® February 2012, specifice
launch-related and sales milestones, togethertivitltontractual royalty rates on net sales of theyrct, remain in effect.

Anti-migraine VersaFilm™

In March 2013 we submitted a 505(b)(2) NDA to tHeAFfor our novel oral thirfilm formulation of Rizatriptan, the active drug
Maxalt-MLT® orally disintegrating tablets. MaxaltdM® is a leading branded antiigraine product manufactured by Merck &
The thin-film formulation of Rizatriptan was devpkd in accordance with the development and commercialization agreement
RedHill using our proprietary immediate releaseségilm™ oral drug delivery technology. In Decemb@t 1, we received approval
Health Canada to conduct a pivotal bioequivaleriadysto determine if our product is safe and bidegjent with the FDA approve
reference product, Maxalt-MLT®. The trial was contid in the second quarter of 2012 and was a raizédmtwo-period, twavay
crossover study in healthy male and female subjddis study results indicate that the product fe,sand that the 90% confidet
intervals of the three relevant parameters CmaxC@) and AUC(0O-infinity) are well within the 80 325 acceptance range
bioequivalency.

In June 2013 the FDA assigned a PDUFA action dateebruary 3, 2014 for the review of the NDA for nketing approval and
February 2014 we received a Complete Responser(¢8RL") from the FDA informing us that certain questiongl aleficiencie
remain that preclude the approval of the applicatiits present form. The questions raised byRDé& in the CRL regarding the NC
for our anti-migraine VersaFilm™ product primarilglate to third party Chemistry, Manufacturing abdntrols (“CMC”) and to th
packaging and labeling of the product. No questmmndeficiencies were raised relating to the prédusafety and the FDA's CRL di
not require additional clinical studies.
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In March 2014 we submitted our response to the BBZRL and in April, 2014 the FDA requested addi&io@MC data. We als
reported that the supplier of the API of the prdcas been issued with an “Import Aleby the FDA. The Import Alert bans the img
into the USA of all raw materials from the suppléemanufacturing facility, which therefore prohibite import of any products usi
these raw materials, and effectively prevents oarsFilm™ product from being approved by the FDAh# time. We continue
work together with RedHill, our development partrar a variety of options to ensure continued spppkhe raw material regardless
the result of these compliance issues and havadinelentified and audited an alternative API sigsgpHowever, changing supplier:
financially expensive and is a tineensuming process. As a result, we believe that EPgroval of this product for the US market
be delayed until 2016.

In October 2014 we announced the submission of kkéiag Authorization Application (“MAA™to the German Federal Institute
Drugs and Medical Devices (“BfArM"seeking European marketing approval of our oral fhin formulation of rizatriptan for acu
migraines, under the brand name RIZAPORT®. The dr@same RIZAPORT®vas also conditionally approved by the FDA as pé
the NDA review process in the U.S. The MAA was sitted under the European Mutual Recognition Prooedvith Germany as tl
reference member state. The submission is suppbytsdveral studies, including a comparative bidaldity study which successful
established the bioequivalence between RIZAPORIN® the European reference drug. BfArM validatesl MPAA and initiated th
formal review process of the application on Novenitig 2014. BfArM's potential feedback regarding MAA is expected during tl
second half of 2015.

It should be noted that BfArM is satisfied with tbempliance status of the API and that therefoeelthport Alert issued by the FL
has no effect upon the MAA submission in Europe.

Two new (undisclosed) projects

In January 2014 we announced the signing of anateeelopment and commercialization agreement wathHharmaceutical, Inc. 1
two new products.

Under the terms of the agreement, Par has obta@edin exclusive rights to market and sell ourdpiais in the USA. In exchange
will receive upfront and milestone payments, togetlwith a share of the profits upon commercial@ati In accordance wi
confidentiality clauses contained in the agreemtt®,specifics of the product descriptions, platfdechnologies and financial ter
remain confidential.

Erectile Dysfunction VersaFilm™

In February 2014 we announced the completion ofl@ piostudy with our proprietary VersaFilm™ tadfl product for erectil
dysfunction that indicated bioequivalence with libeding brand reference listed drug (“RLD") tadélpfoduct.

This was a randomized, two-period, tway crossover study in healthy male subjects. Thdyswas designed to determine whe
VersaFilm™ tadalafil was bioequivalent as measurgdndustry standard pharmacokinetic measures ak ggasma concentrati
(Cmax) and area under the curve (AUC). The studulte demonstrated that VersaFilm™ tadalafil wathiwian acceptable range
bioequivalency with the RLD on both of these measur

Schizophrenia VersaFilm™

In April 2014 we announced financial support frone tNational Research Council of Canada Industrede@rch Assistance Progi
(NRC-IRAP). In addition to advisory services andheological expertise, the funding provided by NERR&P will support furthe
development of a product for the treatment of @mervous system (CNS) diseases and disordensd hgmn our proprietary, oral tl
film, VersaFilm™, technology.

In November 2014 we announced the successful caimplef a pilot clinical study for our INT0O036 VeBilm™ product, which
intended for the treatment of schizophreralated disorders. INTO036 showed a significantipioved pharmacokinetic profile aga
the reference product. The study data confirm bluatal absorption of the drug from our VersaFilmf8duct results in a significan
higher bioavailability of the drug compared to dtblets. Therapeutically relevant plasma concéntra are reached significantly fas
with our VersaFilm™ product compared to conventiot@blets and confirm the suitability of the filnrguuct for the intende
indication.
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According to a Datamonitor Healthcare schizophrdaracast published July 13, 2012, sales of schimaga drugs across the se
major markets (the US, Japan, France, Germany, Balain,and the UK) were estimated at $5.2 billion in 2@b@ by 2021, the mark
is forecast to grow to $6.9 billion at a compounth@al growth rate (“CAGR")of 3.3% . The introduction of additional atypi
antipsychotic depot injections, price increaseth@US, and the use of pipeline drugs targetechagaegative and cognitive symptc
alongside current antipsychotic treatments, areesofrthe catalysts for this growth. US sales wegmgraximately $3.7 billion in 201
and are forecast to grow at a CAGR of 4.7% untd20

In order to maintain our competitive advantage aneeunable to disclose further details relatedhioroject at this time.
Proprietary Technology

In February 2014 we announced receipt of a Noticédlowance ("NOA") from the United States PatemtdaTrademark Offic
(“USPTQ") for U.S. Patent Application Serial No. 11/647,038iteed "Multilayer tablet" which covers the techagy used in ot
hypertension product currently under developmerg.algo announced that a second NOA has been rddeivt).S. Patent Applicatic
Serial No. 11/782,838 entitled "Controlleglease pharmaceutical tablets" which is relatedh&o drug delivery technology usec
Forfivo XL®, our first FDA-approved product currhntommercialized in the U.S.

In April 2014 we announced receipt of a third NQArh the USPTO for U.S. Patent Application Serial N8/836,810 entitled "Or
mucoadhesive dosage form" which covers our praagieAdVersa™ mucoadhesive drug delivery technology.

These three NOA's conclude the examination of @a&h patent application and resulted in the isseasfcthree U.S. patents tl
significantly strengthen our patent portfolio amdypde further protection for our proprietary techogies.

Corporate
New Manufacturing Facility with increased R&D and dministration space

Subsequent to the end of the fiscal year endedrbleee31, 2014, we finalised negotiations for areagrent to lease approximal
17,000 square feet in a property located at 642@Gib, St-Laurent, Quebec (the “Leasethich we expect to execute in the con
weeks. The Lease has a 10 year and 6 month terrmenoging on September 1, 2015 and we have retameaptions to extend tl
Lease, with each option being for an additionak fixears. Under the terms of the Lease we will lmpired to pay base rent
approximately CAD$110 thousand (approximately $85usand) per year, which will increase at a rat€AD$0.25 ($0.22) per squi
foot every two years. We plan to use the newlyddaspace to manufacture our oral film VersaFilm'dpicts, to enlarge our resec
and development capabilities, and for administreiarposes.

We also finalised negotiations for an agreementtffier construction of manufacturing facilities, ladtories, and offices within t
property located at 6420 Abrams, |turent, Quebec, at an aggregate cost of CAD$2lbm{approximately $2.5 million), which v
expect to execute in the coming weeks. The construagreement will be awarded to BTL Constructlon. (“BTL") in Quebe
following a tender process that was completed ircedb@er 2014. BTL specializes in the renovation xistang buildings fo
pharmaceutical use and has completed projectsafidous major pharmaceutical companies. We plamuna this project from cash
hand. Construction is anticipated to be complete@3, 2015.

On March 16, 2015 we received CAD$500 thousandrtagmately $430 thousand) in cash as part of aicfedility of up to CAD$3.!
million (approximately $3.0 million) negotiated WitBMO Bank of Montreal (“BMO”).The credit facility is supported by a 5!
guarantee under the Export Guarantee Program frguorEDevelopment Canada, Canadakport credit agency. Management exg
disbursement of the remaining CAD$3.0 million ($ghlion) to follow after BMO has reviewed (in Augti2015) our operating rest
for the first 6 months of 2015. The credit facilityay be drawn down in multiple disbursements o&imbnths and, after a 6 mo
moratorium on the capital, has a repayment teropdb 60 months. The financial covenants of théitfacility require us to maintair
Minimum Debt Service Coverage ratio of 1.25:1, andlaximum Total Debt to Tangible Net Worth ratio 6:1. Based up«
Managemens business forecasts and projections, Managemédiatvée that we will be able to fully comply with ébe financi:
covenants. As part of securing the credit faciltyg will maintain our operating bank account withi® and we will conduct all futu
banking transactions related to our business apasathrough BMO. We intend to use the funds fer pirchase and installation of r
equipment for our new, state-of the-art, manufaectufacility.

On March 16, 2015 we placed an order for 2 packpgiachines to be manufactured by Harro Hofligerpdekungsmaschinen Gm
(“Harro Hofliger”) and installed in our new, stabéthe-art, manufacturing facility. Harro Hofliger is wiljerecognized as a high €
supplier of production and packaging equipmentmprily to the pharmaceutical and medical deviceugtdes, and is noted 1
providing innovative, custom equipment to meetrtheds of customers. Our purchase order consistseofommercial grade packag
machine for the commercial packaging of our VersaP® products, and one smaller machine for our R&bokatories to be used
clinical trials, submission batches and manufaoturgcale up. The purchase order, in the aggregataura of approximately EE
million (approximately $1.6 million), requires immiate payment of a 20% deposit with a further 7@%e paid upon delivery of ee
machine and the balance of 10% to be paid uposfaetidry completion of a Site Acceptance Test ahemachine. The laboratc
packaging machine is expected to be delivered in2035 and the commercial packaging machine isaggdeto be delivered in G
2015. We intend to finance the acquisition of th2geachines with the credit facility negotiatedmBMO, as discussed aboy
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Leadership successia

In July 2014 we announced the resignation of DijivR€hosla as President and Chief Executive Offi(@EQ”), and as a member
the Board, effective immediately.

Concurrently, our Board of Directors appointed Borst G. Zerbe, our Chairman of the Board, foundad former President and CE
to the positions of President and CEO.

Currency Rate Fluctuations

Our operating currency is Canadian dollars, whilereporting currency is U.S. dollars. Accordingyr results of operations and balance ¢
position have been affected by currency rate flatdms. In summary, when comparing the currencgsratsed to prepare our finan
statements for fiscal 2014 with the rates usedrapgre the previous year, the strengthened USrdakulted in an unrealized loss
approximately $442 thousand on our cash positioBetember 31, 2014, but reduced our net loss frperations by approximately $1
thousand for year ending December 31, 2014. THewolg management discussion and analysis takesithd consideration whene
material.

Results of Operations — Year ended December 31, 2Déompared to the Year ended December 31, 2013.

Percentage

In U.S.$ thousands 2014 2013 Increase/ Increase/

(Decrease (Decrease
Revenue $ 1,65¢ $ 94¢ $ 711 75%
Research and Development Exper 1,07t 561 514 92%
Selling, General and Administrative Expen 2,29( 1,95¢ 33¢€ 17%
Depreciation of tangible asst 35 34 1 3%
Amortization of intangible asse 39 38 1 3%
Interest and other incon 34 - 34 N/A
Net Loss (1,74¢) (1,639 107 7%

Revenue and Other Income

Total revenue in the year ended December 31, 2dréased by 75% to $1,659 thousand from $948 timolisethe year ended December
2013.

Revenue recorded in the year ended December 34,ig6tdes $1,097 thousand (2013 - $492 thousasidjed to Forfivo XL®pur first FDA
approved product, which was launched in OctobeR201der a licensing partnership with Edgemont Phaeuticals LLP (“Edgemont”)Jpor
entering into the licensing agreement, Edgemord paian upfront fee of $1 million, which we recagd as deferred license revenue.
deferred license revenue is amortized in income the period where sales of Forfivo XL&®e expected to be exclusive. In the fourth qu
of 2014, Edgemont exercised its right to extend libense for the exclusive marketing of Forfivo XL& accordance with the terms
exercising such right, we invoiced $1.25 millionEdgemont and recognized the full amount as defeeeenue, to be amortized in incc
from October 2014 through September 2015. As dtreéthis policy, we recognized $621 thousand @01308 thousand) in income duri
the year ended December 31, 2014. As at Decemhe2(@4, we have a deferred revenue balance of $Xtfsusand (December 31, 2C
$616 thousand) that has not been recognized asuevén addition, we recognized approximately $#&3usand (2013 -1¥1 thousand) «
royalty income earned from the sale of Forfivo XL&d a further $13 thousand (2013L3%housand) of manufacturing royalty income rel
to a license to manufacture Forfivo XL® that waarded by us to a contract manufacturing organinatimrfivo XL® is indicated for th
treatment of MDD and is the only extended-releagedipion HCI product to provide a once-daily, 450d0ge in a single tablet.
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The level of sales achieved for Forfivo XLi® 2014 improved significantly when compared to tirevious year. According to Symphe
Health Solutions, gross sales of Forfivo Xit@®@aled $8.9 million in the year ending Decembest32014, an increase of 230% compared
sales of $2.7 million in the preceding year. Thenbar of Forfivo XL®prescriptions filled increased by 123% from appnaaiely 16,761 i
2013 to 30,378 in 2014. The average month-on-mgnilwth rate of Forfivo XL®&hroughout 2014 exceeded 9%. We anticipate signifly
higher revenue from the sales of Forfivo XL® in 301

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014 atdodes an aggregate $550 thousand (2013: $45Gahdy in payments received
successfully achieving certain R&D development stdaes for certain R&D development projects cutyemtder development. We anticip
the receipt of further milestone payments as andnalie successfully achieve further developmentgstulees in accordance with contrac
terms.

Research and Development (“R&D”") Expenses

R&D expenses totaled $1,075 thousand in the yededDecember 31, 2014 compared with $561 thoudangrevious year, representing
increase of $711 thousand, or 92%.

The increase in R&D expenses is primarily attribleégto approximately $401 thousand of expensestiadun the development of our sec
Par project, which is progressing according to plaraddition, we incurred approximately $96 thowdaf R&D costs for the completion o
pilot biostudy with our proprietary VersaFilm™ taaifl product for erectile dysfunction that indiedt bioequivalence with the leading br
reference listed drug tadalafil product, and appnately $100 thousand for the development and sstabcompletion of a pilot clinical stu
for our VersaFilm™ product, indicated for the traaht of schizophrenia, that demonstrated a signiflg improved pharmacokinetic prof
against the reference product. We also recordématstd Research and Development Tax Credits anddefof $94 thousand in the year er
December 31, 2014, representing a decrease oh®t@dnd compared with $166 thousand that was redandthe previous year.

Included within R&D expenses for 2014 are R&D Salarof $478 thousand, of which approximately $8u#emd represents neast
compensation. This compares to R&D salaries of $8@usand in 2013, of which approximately $17 tlamas represented namast
compensation. The decrease in R&D salaries is pilynattributable to the fact that we ceased, wéttfiect from December 31, 2013,
apportion 50% of the remuneration of our CEO to R&D department, and to lower salaries as a refuttaternity leave of two employe
during period of 2014.

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) Expenses

SG&A expenses increased by 17% from $1,954 thousatite year ended December 31, 2013 to $2,290s#ralin the year ended Decen
31, 2014. Approximately $125 thousand of the insees attributable to the fact that we ceased, wifact from December 31, 2013,
apportion 50% of the remuneration of our CEO to R&D department, and approximately $110 thousafatas to an increase in directors
fees. In addition, legal expenses increased byoappately $56 thousand, primarily related to ourd@aaph 1V litigation with Wockhardt tk
was settled in November 2014. Furthermore, feesirfgestor relations services increased by approtaima$80 thousand due to -
appointment of the Cockrell Group in August 2014eTincreases were partly offset by a profit of agpnately $126 thousand (2013: ¢
thousand) realized on currency exchange, priméoiy the conversion of US$ to CAD$.

Included in SG&A expenses are approximately $76ushod (2013: $70 thousand) in noesh compensation from options grante
management employees in 2012, 2013 and 2014, $iligdhd (2013: $10 thousand) in non-cash compenstm options granted to non-
employee directors in 2013 and 2014, and $Nil (2813 thousand) in non-cash compensation from pptgFanted to consultants.
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Depreciation of tangible asset

In the year ended December 31, 2014 we recordeeixpanse of $35 thousand for the depreciation afitde assets, compared with ¢
thousand for the previous year.

Amortization of intangible assets

In the year ended December 31, 2014 we recordedramtization of intangible assets expense of $88ghnd, compared with $38 thous
for the previous year.

Share-Based Compensation Expense, Warrants and StoBased Payments

Share-based compensation expense, warrants aredbsisad payments totaled $101 thousand for the yeldeDecember 31, 2014 comps
with $114 thousand for the year ended Decembe2@13.

We expensed approximately $84 thousand in the geded December 31, 2014 for options granted teemployees in 2012, 2013 and 2
under the 2006 Stock Option Plan, and approximéai#lf thousand for options granted to remployee directors in 2013 and 2014 comp
with $87 thousand and $10 respectively that wagesgd in the same period of the previous year.

We also expensed $17 thousand in the year endeehiber 31, 2013 for options granted to consultamsipared with $Nil in the year enc
December 31, 2014.

As at December 31, 2014 there remains approxim&@dythousand in stock based compensation to beneep in fiscal 2015 through 20
all of which relates to the issuance of optiongnaployees and directors of the Company during 204B2014. We anticipate the issuanc
additional options and warrants in the future, Whigll continue to result in stock-based compemsagxpense.

Key Items from the Balance Sheet

Percentage
In U.S.$ thousands 2014 2013 Increase/ Increase/

(Decrease) (Decrease)
Current Asset $ 525 $ 555( $ (29%) (5%)
Leasehold Improvements and Equipm 98¢ 58¢ 39t 67%
Intangible Asset 46 79 (33 (42%)
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilit 46€ 592 (127) (21%)
Deferred License Reven 1,24¢ 61€ 62¢ 102%
Capital Stock 1 1 0 N/A
Additional Pai¢in-Capital 22,65¢ 20,93« 1,72( 8%

Current Assets

Current assets totaled $5,255 thousand at Dece&ihe2014 compared with $5,550 thousand at Decer®beR013. The decrease of $
thousand is attributable to a decrease in casb@ $housand, a decrease in prepaid expenses dh§33and, and a decrease in investmel
credits receivable of $160 thousand, partly offge&in increase in accounts receivable of $508 #ruilis

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $4,399 thousaati@ecember 31, 2014 representing a decreas06ftiousand compared to the bal
of $5,005 thousand as at December 31, 2013. Theakeein cash on hand relates to net cash usgeratmg activities of $1,379 thousand,
cash used in investing activities of $403 thousamd, an unrealized foreign exchange loss of $4d@s#nd, partly offset by net cash provi
by financing activities of $1,619 thousand.
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In the year ended December 31, 2014 a total of(29088 warrants were exercised for 2,480,988 comsiwnes for cash consideratior
approximately $1,619 thousand.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable totaled $652 thousand (20184 $housand) as at December 31, 2014, of whichoxppately $600 thousand is part of
$1.25 million that was invoiced to Edgemont Pharegicals in the fourth quarter of 2014. We receiyayment against this amount
February 2015.

Prepaid Expenses

As of December 31, 2014, prepaid expenses totélédi®usand compared with $133 thousand as of DeeeB1, 2013. Prepaid expense
December 31, 2013 included a deposit paid for atbdy planned to be completed in the first quanfeR014 and a deposit paid on R
machinery to be supplied and installed in the sédwif of 2014.

Investment tax credits receivable

R&D investment tax credits receivable totaled agpnately $108 thousand as at December 31, 2014 armedpwith $268 thousand as
December 31, 2013. The balance receivable as ad¢rbteer 31, 2014 related to credits accrued througfiseal 2014, whereas the bala
receivable as at December 31, 2013 related totsradeérued throughout fiscal 2013, and to a balantgtanding from 2012 of $106 thousand.

Leasehold Improvements and Equipment

As at December 31, 2014, the net book value ofgntgpand equipment amounted to $983 thousand, camdpa $588 thousand at Decerr
31, 2013. In the year ended December 31, 2014 iadslito assets totaled $403 thousand and comp#iSédthousand for manufactur
equipment for our VersaFilm™ products, $144 thodstm laboratory equipment, $8 thousand for compatgiipment and $197 thousand
leasehold improvements to a new facility that wanplo occupy in the third quarter of 2015. Deprgmiaon Leasehold Improvements
equipment in the year ended December 31, 2014 amabtm $35 thousand and a foreign exchange ga#2 bthousand was recorded.

Included in the net book value of property and pmént as at December 31, 2014 are amounts of appatety $520 thousand (2013: $:
thousand) for manufacturing equipment that is b@irepared for use in our new facility later in 20&B6d $207 thousand (2013: $10 thous
for leasehold improvements for our new facility. docordance with US generally accepted accountimgiples, these assets are not b
depreciated as they are not yet in use.

Intangible Assets

As at December 31, 2014 NDA acquisition costs df $usand (December 31, 201379%housand) were recorded as intangible assedsit
balance sheet and are related to the acquisitid®@¥% ownership of Forfivo XL®. The asset is being amortized over its expecsedullife
and amortization commenced upon commercial laufi¢fodivo XL® in the fourth quarter of 2012.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Current liabilities totaled $466 thousand as at ddelger 31, 2014 (December 31, 201359% thousand) and include approximately
thousand related to research and development tiedivapproximately $63 thousand related to pridess fees, approximately $59 thous
related to royalties payable to a former develogrpantner, and approximately $280 thousand relatettcrued payroll liabilities.

Deferred License Revenue

Pursuant to the execution of a licensing agreerf@nforfivo XL®, we received an upfront fee from Edgemont Pharmamdstin the firs
quarter of 2012, which we recognized as deferreehke revenue. The deferred license revenue ig laenortized in income over the per
where sales of Forfivo XL® are expected to be esigkl

In the fourth quarter of 2014, Edgemont exercisgdight to extend the license for the exclusivekating of Forfivo XL®.In accordance wii
the terms for exercising such right, IntelGenx iced $1.25 million to Edgemont and recognized thle dmount as deferred revenue, tc
amortized in income from October 2014 through Seper 2015.

29



As a result of this policy, we have a deferred nexebalance of $1,245 thousand at December 31, @degember 31, 2013: $616 thouse
that has not been recognized as revenue.

Shareholders’ Equity

As at December 31, 2014 we had accumulated a tlefidi17,848 thousand compared with an accumuldéditit of $16,102 thousand as
December 31, 2013. Total assets amounted to $6f&8&and and shareholdergjuity totaled $4,573 thousand as at December 314
compared with total assets and shareholders’ eqli$p,217 thousand and $5,008 thousand respegtiaelat December 31, 2013.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The Company currently operates out of a 3,500 sqgfesat leasehold facility consisting of laboratsrand office space at 6425 Abrams, Sain
Laurent, Quebec. The monthly rent for this propéstapproximately $2 thousand. The original leagee@ment expired in August 2009,
has since been extended for varying periods. Th&t necent extension is defined as the day immddgiateceding the fulfilment of certs
conditions relating to the occupation of new legsenises at 6420 Abrams.

Subsequent to the end of the 2014 fiscal year nadified negotiations for an agreement to leasecappately 17,000 square feet in a r
facility at 6420 Abrams. The Lease has a 10 yedréamonth term commencing on September 1, 2016lGenhx has retained two option:
extend the lease, with each option being for aritiatdl five years. Under the terms of the leagelBenx will be required to pay base rer
approximately CAD$110 thousand per year, which mitrease at a rate of CAD$0.25 per square footyetveo years. IntelGenx plans to |
the newly leased space for manufacturing of it €itm VersaFilm™ products, enlarging research aselelopment capabilities, a
administration.

On October 1, 2009, the Company signed an agreewidnt. ittle Gem Life Science Partners for investetation services in the USA. Un
the terms of the agreement, the Company was rettirgpay $4.5 thousand per month to Little Gem ISf@ence Partners. The Comp
renegotiated the agreement in May 2012 and redpegthents to $2.5 thousand per month. The agreeméntnatically renews unle
specifically terminated.

On May 7, 2010, the Company executed a ProjectsfearAgreement with one of its former developmeattmers whereby the Compe
acquired full rights to, and ownership of, ForfiXa®, a novel, high strength formulation of Bupropion tgehloride, the active ingredient
Wellbutrin XL®. In accordance with the Project Tséer Agreement, and following commercial launchFoffivo XL® in October 2012, tt
Company is required, after recovering an aggre§20® thousand for management fees previously paiday its former development part
10% of net income received from the sale of Forfkia®. In December 2014 the Company fully recovered saashagement fees and ov
approximately $58 thousand to its former developnpantner that was remitted in February 2015.

Capital Stock

As at December 31, 2014 capital stock amounted6®b £ompared to $610 at December 31, 2013. Theaser reflects the issuance
2,480,988 shares related to the exercise of warksith all shares issued at par value of $0.00Q@pital stock is disclosed at its par value
the excess of proceeds shown in Additional PaiG-apital.

Additional Paid-in-Capital

Additional paidin capital totaled $22,654 thousand at Decembe314, as compared to $20,934 thousand at DeceBdb@013. Addition:
paid in capital increased by $1,619 thousand faravds exercised and increased by $101 thousarsidok based compensation of which §
thousand is attributable to the amortization o€ktoptions granted to employees and directors.

Taxation

As at December 31, 2014 we had Canadian and piialimet operating losses of approximately $9,53ugfand (2013 -&874 thousand) a
$9,683 thousand (2013 - $9,040 thousand) respégctivbich may be applied against earnings of fuitears.
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Utilization of the net operating losses is subjecsignificant limitations imposed by the changecamtrol provisions. Canadian and provin
losses will be expiring between 2027 and 2034. Aipo of the net operating losses may expire befloeg can be utilized.

As at December 31, 2014, we had non-refundableredits of $1,100 thousand (20131,@98 thousand) of which $20 thousand is expirn
2017, $194 thousand is expiring in 2018, $170 thodss expiring in 2019, $145 thousand is expiim@020, $154 thousand is expiring
2021, $193 thousand is expiring in 2022 and $128thnd is expiring in 2023 and $95 thousand isrexpin 2024. We also had undeduc
research and development expenses of $4,805 thb(@ah3 - $4,354 thousand) with no expiration date.

The deferred tax benefit of these items was naigeized in the accounts as it has been fully pexyifbr.

Key items from the Statement of Cash Flows

Percentage
In U.S.$ thousands 2014 2013 Increase/ Increase/
(Decrease (Decrease
Operating Activities $ 1,379 $ 1,179 $ 20¢€ 18%
Financing Activities 1,61¢ 4.47¢ (2,860 (64%)
Investing Activities (4093 (26€) 137 52%
Cash and cash equivaler end of perioc 4,39¢ 5,00¢ (60€) (12%)

Statement of cash flows

Net cash used by operating activities was $1,389ghand in the year ended December 31, 2014, comhpar$l,173 thousand for the y
ended December 31, 2013. In fiscal 2014, net casH hy operating activities consisted of an opegdtiss of $1,571 thousand (20131;45:
thousand) and an increase in reash operating elements of working capital of $it8f1sand compared with an increase of $280 thous:
2013.

Operating activities will continue to consume ouaitable funds until we are able to generate ilmedaevenues.

The net cash provided by financing activities wa®$9 thousand in fiscal 2014, compared to $4,488gand provided in the previous y
The net cash provided in 2014 resulted from theotse of warrants, whereas the net cash provide2Di8 resulted from gross proceed
$3,500 thousand from our public offering completedDecember 2013, $1,465 thousand from the exemfsearrants and a further §
thousand from the exercise of options, less traisacosts for the public offering of $517 thousand

Net cash used in investing activities amounted4@3%housand in the year ended December 31, 20hpa@d to $266 thousand in the \
ended December 31, 2013. The net cash used irtimyextivities in 2014 relates exclusively to fhechase of fixed assets and comprisec
thousand for manufacturing equipment for our Veilsa®™ products, $144 thousand for laboratory equiptn®8 thousand for compu
equipment and $197 thousand for leasehold improm&srie a new facility that we plan to occupy in thied quarter of 2015.

The balance of cash and cash equivalents as anibece31, 2014 amounted to $4,399 thousand, compeau®%,005 thousand at December
2013.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as cplatid by SK 229 303 (A) (4) (ii).

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK.
Not applicable
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements and suppleanedata of the Company required in this itemsaeforth beginning on pageJFef this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

a. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation under the supervision atid té participation of our management, our Chieédtitive Officer and Chief Financ
Officer have concluded that the Company's disclsantrols and procedures as defined in Rules 58a)}And 15dt5(e) under the Securit
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchangé) Awtre effective as of December 31, 2014 to ensuat itfiormation required to |
disclosed by the Company in reports that it files@bmits under the Exchange Act is (i) recordedc@ssed, summarized and reported w
the time periods specified in the SEC rules andhfoand (ii) accumulated and communicated to the aoyls management, including
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officeis appropriate to allow timely decisions regagdiquired disclosure.

b. Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Repding

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial ©ffr have concluded that there were no changelseirCbmpanys internal controls ov
financial reporting during the quarter ended Decentil, 2014 that have materially affected or aesoeably likely to materially affect t
Company’s internal controls over financial repagtin

c. Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Firancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingraaithtaining adequate internal control over finahoiorting, as such term is definec
Exchange Act Rule 13a5(f). Our internal control system was designegnuvide reasonable assurance to our managemertharigbard c
Directors regarding the preparation and fair presten of published financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how welkimed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, etrerse systems determined to be effes
can provide only reasonable assurance with respdictancial statement preparation and presentation

Our management, including the Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effesess of the Compars/interna
control over financial reporting as of December 3014. In making this assessment, our managemesat the criteria set forth by t
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission (COSO) in Internal Controlrtegrated Framework (1992). Basec
our processes and assessment, as described atamaggeament has concluded that, as of December 34, &@ internal control over financ
reporting was effective.

This Annual Report does not include an attestateport of our registered public accounting firm amdjng internal control over financ
reporting. Management's report was not subjecttestation by the company's registered public actiog firm pursuant to rules of the S
that permit the Company to provide only managemeaport in this Annual Report.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Certain information required by this Item 10 reigtito our directors, executive officers, audit cattee and corporate governance
incorporated by reference herein from the 2015 yP&tatement.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsitiat applies to our directors and officers,udaig our principal executive officer, ¢
our principal financial officer and principal aceting officer. The Code of Business Conduct andidsths posted on our website
http://www.intelgenx.com We intend to satisfy the disclosure requiremerttenr Item 5.05 of Form B-regarding an amendment to, or wa
from, a provision of our Code of Business Conduntt BEthics by posting such information on our webaitthe web address specified above.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Certain information required by this Item 11 redgtito remuneration of directors and executive efficand other transactions involv
management is incorporated by reference herein fn@n2015 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Certain information required by this Iltem 12 redgtito security ownership of certain beneficial ovenand management, and the ec
compensation plan information, is incorporateddfgmrence herein from the 2015 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Certain information required by this Item 13 raigtito certain relationships and related transastiand director independence is incorpot
by reference herein from the 2015 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Certain information required by this Item 14 regagdprincipal accounting fees and services is eghfunder “Audit Feesin the 2015 Prox
Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Fin

ancial Statements and Schedules

1. Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed astdirthis report under Item 8 of Part Il “FinancBtatements and Supplementary Data:

mo o @ »

F.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing.

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,£¢12013

Consolidated Statements of Sharehol' Equity for the years ended of December 31, 2014281@3.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Los$hiéye¢ars ended of December 31, 2014 and -
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yerailed December 31, 2014 and 2(

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

2 . Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules not included heraue lbeen omitted because they are either not estjuiiot applicable, or the informatior
otherwise included herein.

(b) Exhibits.
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
No. Description
2.1 Share exchange agreement dated April 10, 2006rfincated by reference to the Form 8-K/A filed onyM&a 2006)
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated lefarence to the Form SB-2 (File No. 333-90149)ifibe November 16, 1999)
3.2 Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation (ifporated by reference to amendment No. 2 to Fors? $Bile No. 333-
135591) filed on August 28, 2006)
3.3 Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporatiorcérporated by reference to the Form DEF 14C fdadApril 20, 2007)
3.4 By-Laws (incorporated by reference to the Form S@i2 No. 333-91049) filed on November 16, 1999
35 Amended and Restated By-Laws (incorporatecefarence to the Form 8-K filed on March 31, 2011)
3.6 Amended and Restated By-Laws (incorporated by eefar to the Form 8-K filed on March 21, 2012)
9.1 Voting Trust agreement (incorporated by refeegio the Form 8-K/A filed on May 5, 2006)
10.1 + Iz-igrst) Zerbe employment agreement dated Octobe®1l4 @incorporated by reference to the FormQ€ted on November 1:
14
10.2 + Ingrid Zerbe employment agreement (incorigatdy reference to the Form SB-2 (File No. 3335B3) filed on July 3, 2006)
10.3 Registration rights agreement (incorporated byregfee to the Form SB-2 (File No. 333-135591) fitbedJuly 3, 2006)
10.4 Pringipal's registration rights agreementdiporated by reference to the Form SB-2 (File N8B-B35591) filed on July @
2006
10.5 + 2006 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by referencddé Form S-8 filed on November 21, 2006)
10.6 + Employment Contract Paul A. Simmons (incoaped by reference to the Form 8-K filed on Septent) 2008)
10.7 + Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option Plan, May@38 (incorporated by reference to the FornKifled on March 25

2009)
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10.8

10.9 +
10.10

10.11

10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17

10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21+
10.22+
10.23

10.24

10.25
10.26

10.27 ++

10.28 ++

10.29+*
21.1

23.1*
31.1*

31.2*
32.1*
32.2*

Co-Development and Commercialization Agreemgtit RedHill Biopharma Ltd. (incorporated by redace to the Form 10-Q
filed on November 9, 2010)

Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option Plan (ilcated by reference to the Form S-8 filed on Noverits, 2010)

Agency Agreement, dated as of August 27, 20&fiveen the Company and Bolder Investment Parthéd. (incorporated by
reference to the Form 8-K filed on August 30, 2010)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of AugidsR10, by and among the Company and the purchpsesuant to the
offering (incorporated by reference to the Form 8kd on August 30, 2010)

Form of Subscription Agreement (incorpordigdeference to the Form 8-K filed on August 301@0

Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to then8-K filed on August 30, 2010)

Form of Compensation Option (incorporateddfgrence to the Form 8-K filed on August 30, 2010)
Project Transfer Agreement (incorporated by refeeeo the Form 10-Q filed on May 14, 2010)
Co-development and Licensing Agreement (jpaa@ted by reference to the Form 10-Q filed on My2010)

License and Asset Transfer Agreement with EdgerRbarmaceuticals (incorporated by reference to tienFL0Q filed on May
15, 2012)

Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporatedflrence to the Form 8-K filed on June 3, 2011)
Registration Rights Agreement (incorporated bynafee to the Form 8-K filed on June 3, 2011)

Form of Warrant (incorporated by referencthéoForm 8-K filed on June 3, 2011)

Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option Plan, (@aocated by reference to the Form 8-K filed on Mag®13)
Employment Agreement Rajiv Khosla (incorpedaby reference to the Form 10-Q filed on May2@4,3)

Engagement Letter Wainwright dated October 10, 2aff®2nded December 3, 2013 (incorporated by referemthe Form S-
1/A Registration Statement filed December 16, 2013)

Amended Form of Securities Purchase Agree(iradrporated by reference to the Form S-1/A Regfion Statement filed on
December 16, 2013)

Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to tbenkS-1 Registration Statement filed on October228,3)

Form of Placement Agent Warrant (incorporégdeference to the Form S-1/A Registration Statetnfiled on December 16,
2013)

Development Services and Commercialization Agreeméh PAR Pharmaceuticals, dated December 19, Zidtbrporated by
reference to the Form 10-K filed on March 11, 2014)

Development Services and Commercializatigreement with PAR Pharmaceuticals, dated Jarig2914 (incorporated by
reference to the Form 10-K filed on March 11, 2014)

Employment-Agreement John Durham, January 2015

Subsidiaries of the small business issueofpuarated by reference to the Form SB-2 (File N&8-335591) filed on July 3,
2006)

Consents of Richter LLP

Certification of Horst G. Zerbe, President@hief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 802he Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.*

Certification of Paul A. Simmons, Chief FinancidfiCer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbaness@Rct of 2002.*
Certification of Horst G. Zerbe, PresidentaPhief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.Cctim 1350.*
Certification of Paul A. Simmons, Chief FinancidfiCer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. *

* Filed herewith.

+ Indicates management contract or employee comtiensgplan

++ Portions of this exhibit have been omitted base@n application for confidential treatment frdme SEC. The omitted
portions of these exhibits have been submittedraggg with the SEC.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 1B5¢d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, rdgistrant has duly caused this re
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned orcMao, 2015, thereunto duly authorized.

INTELGENX TECHNOLOGIES CORP.

By: /s/Horst G. Zerbi
Horst G. Zerbe
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

By: [s/Paul A. Simmon
Paul A. Simmon:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secarkechange Act of 1934, this report has been sidnjethe following persons in t
capacities and on the dates indicated.
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RICHTER

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
IntelGenx Technologies Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of IntelGenx Technologies Corp. as aember 31, 2014 and 2013 and
related consolidated statements of comprehensss khareholders' equity and cash flows for thesyibeen ended. These financial staterr
are the responsibility of the Company's managen@unt.responsibility is to express an opinion orsthénancial statements based on our a

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtaasonable assurance whether the financial statsraee free of material misstatement.
Company is not required to have, nor were we ergjdggerform an audit of its internal control o¥igrancial reporting. Our audits incluc
consideration of internal control over financiapogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion onefffiectiveness of the Compasyinternal control over financial reporting. Accmgly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesmixiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusms and disclosures in the finan
statements. An audit also includes assessing twuating principles used and significant estimatesle by management, as well as evalu
the overall financial statement presentation. Weebe that our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinion.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial staeta present fairly in all material respects, thearicial position of the Company as
December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the results ofpigsations and its cash flows for the years thereénd accordance with U.S. gener
accepted accounting principles.

Richter LLP (Signed

Montréal, Québec
March 30, 2015

1CPA auditor, CA, public accountancy permit No. A282

514.934.340(
mtlinfo@richter.ca

Richter LLP

1981 McGill College

Mtl (Qc) H3A 0G6

www.richter.ca Montréal, Toronto




IntelGenx Technologies Corf.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31, 2014 and 2013
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

201/ 201:
Assets
Current
Cash and cash equivale 4,39¢ $ 5,00¢
Accounts receivab 652 144
Prepaid expens 96 13z
Investment tax credits receiva 10¢ 26€
Total Current Assets 5,25¢ 5,55(
Leasehold Improvements and Equipmen(note 5) 98: 58¢
Intangible Assets(note 6) 46 79
Total Assets 6,28. $ 6,217
Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabili 46€ 593
Deferred license revenue (not 1,24t 30¢
Total Current Liabilities 1,711 901
Deferred License Revenue, nc-current portion (note 7) - 30¢
Total Liabilities 1,711 1,20¢
Commitments (note 8)
Shareholders' Equity
Capital Stock (note ¢ 1 1
Additional Pai-in-Capital (note 10 22,65¢ 20,93«
Accumulated Defici (17,849 (16,109
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Lt (239 17¢
Total Shareholders’ Equity 4,57: 5,00¢
6,28¢ $ 6,217

See accompanying notes
Approved on Behalf of the Board:

/s/ Bernd Melchers Director

/s/ Horst G. Zerbe Director




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

Accumulatec

Additional Other Total
Capital Stock Paic-In Accumulater Comprehensiv  Shareholders
Number Amount Capital Deficit Income/(Loss Equity
Balance - December 31, 2012 49,890,42 $ 0 $ 16,34 % (14,46) $ 29¢ % 2,17¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm - - - - (129 (129
Issue of common stock, net of transaction cc
of $387 (note 9 7,920,341 - 1,80¢ - - 1,80¢
Warrants issued, net of transaction costs of
(note 10) - - 1,07t - - 1,07t
Agent¢ warrants (note 1C - - 10C - - 10C
Warrants exercised (note 1 3,098,501 1 1,46¢ - - 1,46t
Options exercised (note 1 75,00( - 31 - - 31
Stocl-based compensation (note : - - 114 - - 114
Net loss for the perio - - - (1,639 - (1,639
Balance — December 31, 2013 60,984,26 $ 1 $ 2093 $ (16,10) $ 178 $ 5,00¢

See accompanying notes



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

Accumulatec

Additional Other Total
Capital Stock Paic-In Accumulater Comprehensiv  Shareholders

Number Amount Capital Deficit Income?(Loss Equity
Balance - December 31, 2013 60,984,26 $ 1 $ 2093 % (16,109 $ 178 % 5,00¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm - - - - (409) (409)
Warrants exercised (note 1 2,480,98! - 1,61¢ - - 1,61¢
Stocl-based compensation (note : - - 101 - - 101
Net loss for the perio - - - (1,74¢€) - (1,746
Balance— December 31, 201. 63,465,25 $ 1 $ 2265 % (17,849 $ (239 $ 4,57

See accompanying notes



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss |
For the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

201/ 201:
Revenues
Royaltie $ 47€ 18¢
License and other revel 1,18: 76C
Total Revenues 1,65¢ 94¢
Expenses
Research and development exp 1,07t 561
Selling, general and administrativpense 2,29( 1,95¢
Depreciation of tangible ass 35 34
Amortization of intangible ass 39 38
Total Costs and Expense 3,43¢ 2,581
Loss from Operations (1,780 (1,639
Other Income
Interest and other inco 34 -
Total Other Income 34 -
Loss Before Income Taxes (1,74¢) (1,639
Income taxes (note 1. - -
Net Loss (1,74¢) (1,639
Other Comprehensive Loss
Foreign currency translation adjusth (409 (124)
Comprehensive Los: $ (2,159 (1,76%)
Basic and Diluted Weighted Average Number of ShareQutstanding 63,182,22 54,023,73
Basic and Diluted Loss Per Common Share (note $ (0.09) (0.09)

See accompanying notes



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

201/ 201:
Funds Provided (Used-
Operating Activities
Net los: (1,746 $ (1,639
Amortization and depreciatir 74 72
Stoc-based compensatic 101 114
(1,579 (1,457%)
Changes in assets and liabili
Accounts receivat (50¢) 1,13¢
Prepaid expen: 37 (32)
Investment tax credits receie: 16C (55)
Accounts payable and accruddlitees (227) (465)
Deferred license rever 62¢ (307)
Net change in assets and liabilitie 191 28C
Net cash used by operating activitie (1,380 (1,179
Financing Activities
Issuance of common stock and warr - 3,50(
Proceeds from exercise of warrants, a’ warrants and stock optiol 1,61¢ 1,49¢
Transaction cos - (517)
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,61¢ 4,47¢
Investing Activities
Additions to leasehold improvements andigment (403 (26€)
Net Cash used in investing activitie (409 (26€)
Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1649) 3,04(
Effect of Foreign Exchange on Cash and Cash Equivathts (442) (99
Cash and Cash Equivalent:
Beginning of Year 5,00¢ 2,05¢
End of Year 4,39¢ $ 5,00¢

See accompanying notes



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

1.

Basis of Presentatior

IntelGenx Technologies Corp. (“IntelGenx” or thedi@pany”)prepares its financial statements in accordande agtounting principle
generally accepted in the United States of Amefid&A”). This basis of accounting involves the applicatibmacrual accounting a
consequently, revenues and gains are recognized @draed, and expenses and losses are recognieedndurred.

The consolidated financial statements include ttmoants of the Company and its subsidiary compafesconsolidation, all inter-
entity transactions and balances have been eligdnat

The financial statements are expressed in U.S sfund
Nature of Business

IntelGenx was incorporated in the State of Delavear®ig Flash Corp. on July 27, 1999. On April 2806 Big Flash Corp. complet
through the Canadian holding corporation, the aition of IntelGenx Corp., a company incorporatedCanada on June 15, 2003.

IntelGenx is a pharmaceutical company focused errésearch, development, and commercializatiorhafmaceutical products ba:
upon three proprietary delivery platforms, incluglem immediate release oral film “VersaFilm™”, acoadhesive tablet “AdVersa™”
and a multilayer controlled release tablet “Verdad. The Company has an aggressive product developmigiative that primaril
focuses on addressing unmet market needs and foomsatilization of the U.S. Food and Drug Admirasion’s (“FDA”) 505(b)(2
approval process to obtain more timely and efficagproval of new formulations of previously appedyproducts.

The Companys product pipeline currently consists of 10 produ@t various stages of development from inceptibrougt
commercialization, including products for the treaht of major depressive disorder, opioid depenelemypertension, erect
dysfunction, migraine, schizophrenia, idiopathi¢tnponary fibrosis, and pain management. Of the petsdourrently under developme
6 utilize theVersaFilm™technology, 2 utilize th&ersaTab™technology, and one utilizes tihaeVersa™technology. In accordan
with contractual commitments and for reasons ofidentiality, the Company is unable to disclosdeitthe indicated treatment bel
two of the products under development.

The Company’s first FDA-approved product, Forfiva® was launched in the USA in October 2012 underenbing partnership wi
Edgemont Pharmaceuticals LLP. Forfivo XLi® indicated for the treatment of Major Depressi¥sorder (MDD) and is the on
extended-release bupropion HCI product to provida@e-daily, 450mg dose in a single tablet. Thevadhgredient in Forfivo XL®is
bupropion, the same active ingredient used in Wil XL®.

F-7



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

3.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

The FASB issued Update No. 2013-05, “Foreign CuyeMatters (Topic 830)—Parest’Accounting for the Cumulative Translat
Adjustment upon Derecognition of Certain Subsidiaror Groups of Assets within a Foreign Entity bao Investment in a Forei
Entity”. The amendments in this Update resolve dhersity in practice about whether Subtopic 810-C@nsolidation-Overall, o
Subtopic 830-30, Foreign Currency Matter§ranslation of Financial Statements, applies tor#lease of the cumulative transla
adjustment into net income when a parent eithds separt or all of its investment in a foreignignor no longer holds a controlli
financial interest in a subsidiary or group of @sdkat is a nonprofit activity or a business (oftian a sale of in substance real este
conveyance of oil and gas mineral rights) withifoeeign entity. In addition, the amendments in tbisdate resolve the diversity
practice for the treatment of business combinatiacisieved in stages (sometimes also referred tstegs acquisitions) involving
foreign entity. For public entities, the amendmentthis ASU were effective prospectively for fisgaars, and interim reporting peric
within those years, beginning after December 13,320 he adoption of this Statement did not haveatenal effect on the Comparsy’
financial position or results of operations.

The FASB issued Update No. 2013-07, “Presentatfdfirancial Statements — Liquidation Basis of Aacting”. The objective of th
Update is to clarify when an entity should applg tlquidation basis of accounting and to providmgiples for the measurement
assets and liabilities under the liquidation ba$iaccounting, as well as any required disclosufbgese amendments were effective
entities that determine liquidation is imminentidgrannual reporting periods beginning after Decenitb, 2013, and interim report
periods therein. Entitles should apply the requéeta prospectively from the day that liquidatiorwdraes imminent. The adoption
this Statement did not have a material effect @xGbmpany’s financial position or results of opiena.

The FASB issued Update No. 2013-11, “Income Taxespic 740)—Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit WheNet
Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Lossadrax Credit Carryforward ExistsThe amendments in this ASU provide guidz
on the financial statement presentation of an wyeized tax benefit when a net operating loss @ammard, similar tax loss, or t
credit carryforward exists. The amendments werecéffe for fiscal years, and interim periods witlihose years, beginning al
December 15, 2013 and should be applied prospéctivaall unrecognized tax benefits that existre effective date. The adoptior
this Statement did not have a material effect @Gbmpany’s financial position or results of opiena.

F-8




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

3. Adoption of New Accounting Standards (Cor’d)

The FASB has issued ASU No. 2014-which provides an acquired entity with an optiorapply pushdown accounting in its sepe
financial statements upon occurrence of an eventtith an acquirer obtains control of the acquiesdity. The amendments w
effective on November 18, 2014. After the effectilage, an acquired entity can make an electioppdyahe guidance to future change
in-control events or to its most recent changedntrol event. However, if the financial statemefaisthe period in which the m¢
recent chang@control event occurred have already been issuadagle available to be issued, the applicatiomisfguidance would |

a change in accounting principle.

4, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from research arelagenent contracts as the contracted servicepaafermed or when milestor
are achieved, recorded as other revenue, in acoedaith the terms of the specific agreements ahenacollection of the payment
reasonably assured. In addition, the performaniterier for the achievement of milestones are masulistantive effort was requirec
achieve the milestone and the amount of the mifesfmayment appears reasonably commensurate witbffiie expended. Amour
received in advance of the recognition criterinbenet, if any, are included in deferred income.

IntelGenx has license agreements that specify dbetin royalties are earned by the Company ors safldicensed products in t
licensed territories. Licensees usually reportssalted royalty information in the 45 days after éimel of the quarter in which the actiy
takes place and typically do not provide forwartineates or currentiuarter information. Because the Company is nat sibbteasonab
estimate the amount of royalties earned during gieod in which these licensees actually ship petgluroyalty revenue is r
recognized until the royalties are reported toGoeenpany and the collection of these royalties @&soaably assured.

In August 2010, the Company entered into a jointettigpment and commercialization agreement with Rié@ibpharma (“RedHill”),
an Israeli company, for an anti-migraine producdthupon the ComparsyVersaFilm™ technology. In accordance with thengeo
the agreement, RedHill made fipnt and milestone payments in the aggregate atmafup800 thousand, of which $200 thousand
received by the Company in 2013 upon the filingapfNDA and acceptance of the filing by the U.S.d~aad Drug Administratio
RedHill is required to make additional milestong/pents of $500 thousand upon receipt of FDA manketipproval for the produ
together with royalties and / or a share of praffgen commercialization.

F-9




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4,

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’'d)

In December 2011, the Company entered into dea@lopment and commercialization agreement withFParmaceutical, Inc. ("Par
a US company, for a generic formulation of buprephore and naloxone Sublingual Film, utilizing th@ngpanys VersaFilm™
technology. The reference listed drug is Suboxott@@renorphine and naloxone) Sublingual Film anddicated for the maintenar
treatment of opioid dependence. In accordance thi¢ghterms of the agreement, IntelGenx has recaipéwnt and milestone payme
in the aggregate amount of $750 thousand, of wh30 thousand was received by the Company in 26ll@wing acceptance by t
FDA of the ANDA submission. The agreement proviftgsadditional, undisclosed, milestone paymentgetber with a share of prof
upon commercialization.

In February 2012, the Company entered into a lieeggeement with Edgemont Pharmaceuticals LLC (8fdmnt”),a US company, fi
the commercialization Forfivo XL@n the United States. In accordance with the tesfrthe agreement, IntelGenx has received up
and milestone payments in the aggregate amoun3.@6%nillion to date, and will be eligible for atidnal milestones upon achiev
certain sales and exclusivity targets of up torthar $26.5 million.

In January 2014, the Company entered into anotbgeldpment and commercialization agreement with fBatwo new produc
utilizing the Companys VersaFilm™ technology. Under the terms of theeagrent, Par has obtained certain exclusive righisarke
and sell IntelGenx' products in the USA. In exchangtelGenx received an undisclosed upfront paynaemt has received cert
undisclosed development milestones and will receidditional milestone payments, together with areshaf the profits, upc
commercialization. In accordance with confidentyatilauses contained in the agreement, the speaifithe product descriptions ¢
financial terms of the transaction remain confidnt

Product Sales:

The Company launched Forfivo XLi® the USA in October 2012 under a licensing paghip with Edgemont. Under the terms of
license agreement, the commercial launch of Forkk® triggered launchrelated milestone payments for IntelGenx of up 4oC
million, of which $1 million was invoiced by the @mpany and recognized as revenue in the fourth guadft 2012. Addition:
milestones of up to a further $23.5 million are aialg upon achieving certain sales and exclusieaityets and the Company commer
receiving royalties from sales of the product ie first quarter of 2013. Royalty income from satdsForfivo XL® totaled $46
thousand in 2014 compared with $171 thousand 13201

In the fourth quarter of 2014, Edgemont exercigedight to extend the license for the exclusivekeating of Forfivo XL®, for which
the Company invoiced $1.25 million to Edgemont aedognized as deferred revenue, to be amortizédcome from October 20
through September 2015. In addition, upon enteiing the licensing partnership, Edgemont paid tlen@any an upfront fee of
million, which the Company recognized as deferiedrse revenue. The deferred license revenue rig) la@nortized in income over 1
period where sales of Forfivo XL®&re expected to be exclusive. As a result of tligkcy, the Company recognized revenue in
aggregate amount of $621 thousand in 2014 and da$eared revenue balance of $1.2 million at Decan®1, 2014 that has not b
recognized as revenue.

F-10



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cor'd)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith US GAAP requires management to make es@mand assumptions t
affect the reported amounts of assets and liaslitdisclosure of contingent assets and liabildiethe date of the financial stateme
and the reported amounts of revenues and expense®y dhe reporting period. The financial staterseintclude estimates based
currently available information and managementtiginent as to the outcome of future conditions aimdumstances. Significa
estimates in these financial statements includautiedul lives and impairment of long-lived asseteckbased compensation costs,
investment tax credits receivable, the determimatibthe fair value of warrants issued as partuoidfaising activities, and the result
impact on the allocation of the proceeds betweercttimmon shares and the warrants.

Changes in the status of certain facts or circuntgts: could result in material changes to the estisnased in the preparation of
financial statements and actual results could dfffem the estimates and assumptions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of casland and term deposits with original maturity datEkess than three months that
stated at cost, which approximates fair value.

Accounts Receivable

The Company accounts for trade receivables atr@ignvoice amount less an estimate made for doliteteivables based on a rev
of all outstanding amounts on a quarterly basisnag@ment determines the allowance for doubtful @tisoby regularly evaluatil
individual customer receivables and consideringuistamer's financial condition, credit history andrent economic conditions. T
Company writes off trade receivables when theydaemed uncollectible and records recoveries oetradeivables previously written-
off when they receive them. Management has detemnthat no allowance for doubtful accounts is nemegsin order to adequat
cover exposure to loss in its December 31, 201dwats receivable (2013: $Nil).

F-11




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
Investment Tax Credits

Investment tax credits relating to qualifying exgires are recognized in the accounts at the éitvehich the related expenditures
incurred and there is reasonable assurance of thelization. Management has made estimates anoinpsiens in determining tl
expenditures eligible for investment tax creditroled.

Leasehold Improvements and Equipment

Leasehold improvements and equipment are recoridedsa Provisions for depreciation are based eir #stimated useful lives usi
the methods as follows:

On the declining balance meth-

Laboratory and office equipme 20%
Computer equipme 30%
On the straigl-line methoc-
Leasehold improvemer over the lease ter
Manufacturing equipme 5-10 years

Upon retirement or disposal, the cost of the adisgtosed of and the related accumulated depregiatie removed from the accot
and any gain or loss is reflected in income. Exjienes for repair and maintenance are expenseucasréed.

Intangible Assets

Payments made to third parties subsequent to tegylapproval are capitalized and amortized over rdmaining useful life of ti
related product. Amounts capitalized for such paysiare included in other intangibles, net of acaiated amortization.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

Long-ived assets held and used by the Company arewedidor possible impairment whenever events or gharin circumstanc
indicate the carrying amount of an asset may notdweverable. Recoverability of assets to be held ased is measured b
comparison of the carrying amount of the assethdcestimated undiscounted cash flows expecte@ @eberated by the asset. If <
assets are considered to be impaired, the impairtodme recognized is measured by the amount bghwhie carrying amount of t
asset exceeds the fair value thereof.
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4,

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’'d)

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company's reporting currency is the U.S. dolldre Canadian dollar is the functional currencytlté Company's Canad
operations, which is translated to the United Stakellar using the current rate method. Under téthod, accounts are translate
follows:

Assets and liabilities - at exchange rates in ¢fiethe balance sheet date;
Fixed assets - at historical rates Revenue andnegge at average exchange rates prevailing dtivengear;
Equity - at historical rates.
Gains and losses arising from foreign currencydiggtion are included in other comprehensive income.
Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordantte FASB ASC 740 "Income Taxes". Deferred taxes provided on tt
liability method whereby deferred tax assets amogaized for deductible temporary differences, alederred tax liabilities a
recognized for taxable temporary differences. Teraodifferences are the differences between tiperted amounts of assets

liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax asse¢ reduced by a valuation allowance when, iroffirion of management, it is ms
likely than not that some portion or all of the eleéd tax assets will be realized. Deferred tartasand liabilities are adjusted for
effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the aflatnactment.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The Company accounts for unrecognized tax benafitaccordance with FASB ASC 740 “Income TaxeASC 740 prescribes
recognition threshold that a tax position is regdito meet before being recognized in the finarst@lements and provides guidanc
detecognition, measurement, classification, inteegst penalties, accounting in interim periods, disgte and transition issues. A
740 contains a twstep approach to recognizing and measuring unpetdai positions. The first step is to evaluate tdreposition fo
recognition by determining if the weight of avaikatevidence indicates that it is more likely thaot that the position will be sustair
upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authorihgliding resolution of related appeals or litigatfirocesses, if any. The second st
to measure the tax benefit as the largest amoantgimore than 50% likely of being realized uptiimate settlement.

Additionally, ASC 740 requires the Company to aecinterest and related penalties, if applicablealbtax positions for which resen
have been established consistent with jurisdictidar laws. The Company elected to classify inteaasd penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits in the income tax prowisi
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’'d)
Share-Based Payments

The Company accounts for share-based paymentsptogees in accordance with the provisions of FASBCA718 "Compensatien
Stock Compensation” and accordingly recognizedsirfinancial statements sharased payments at their fair value. In additior
Company will recognize in the financial statemearisexpense based on the grant date fair valuedk siptions granted to employe
The expense will be recognized on a stralgtg-basis over the vesting period and the offsgttredit will be recorded in additiol
paid-in capital. Upon exercise of options, the ddastion paid together with the amount previousigorded as additional paid-
capital will be recognized as capital stock. ThanPany estimates its forfeiture rate in order toedatne its compensation expe
arising from stock-based awards. The Company teeBliack-Scholes option pricing model to deternthreefair value of the options.

The Company measures compensation expense foortemployee stock-based compensation under ASC5605Accounting fo
Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other ThamplByees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Sallj, Goods or Services". The 1
value of the option issued is used to measurerémsaction, as this is more reliable than thevalue of the services received. The
value is measured at the value of the Compmangmmon stock on the date that the commitmenpdédiormance by the counterparty
been reached or the counterpastperformance is complete. The fair value of theitggnstrument is charged directly to compense
expense and additional paid-in capital. For comistock issuances to na@mployees that are fully vested and are for fupagods, th
Company classifies these issuances as prepaid apamd expenses the prepaid expenses over thieeseeviod. At no time has t
Company issued common stock for a period that elcene year.

Loss Per Share

Basic loss per share is calculated based on thghtesl average number of shares outstanding duhiegyear. Any antidilutiv
instruments are excluded from the calculation bftdd loss per share.

F-14



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4,

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’'d)
Fair Value Measurements

ASC 820 applies to all assets and liabilities #rat being measured and reported on a fair valuis.baSC 820 requires disclosure 1
establishes a framework for measuring fair valu&$ GAAP, and expands disclosure about fair valeasarements. This staterr
enables the reader of the financial statementsdess the inputs used to develop those measuremertsablishing a hierarchy
ranking the quality and reliability of the infornat used to determine fair values. The statememuires that assets and liabilit
carried at fair value be classified and disclosedrie of the following three categories:

Level 1Quoted market prices in active markets for idehtssgets or liabilities
Level 20bservable market based inputs or unobservablédrpat are corroborated by market d
Level 3Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated nketalata

In determining the appropriate levels, the Compaerforms a detailed analysis of the assets anditied that are subject to ASC 8:
At each reporting period, all assets and liabsitier which the fair value measurement is basedignificant unobservable inputs
classified as Level 3. There are no assets ollitiabimeasured at fair value as at December 31420

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value represents managemeiést estimates based on a range of methodolagi¢sassumptions. The carrying value
receivables and payables arising in the ordinamyrsm of business and the investment tax creditsivalsle approximate fair val
because of the relatively short period of time testavtheir origination and expected realization.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

ASU 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statemen@oig Concern (Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of Utaiaties about an Entity’
Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

The FASB has issued ASU No. 2014-15 which is intehth define managemest'esponsibility to evaluate whether there is s
doubt about an organizatiaability to continue as a going concern and tovide related footnote disclosures. This ASU pros
guidance to an organizatianmanagement, with principles and definitions #ratintended to reduce diversity in the timing andten
of disclosures that are commonly provided by org@tions today in the financial statement footnotdse amendments are effective
annual periods ending after December 15, 2016, istedim periods within annual periods beginningeafbecember 15, 2016. Et
application is permitted for annual or interim refpay periods for which the financial statementséaot previously been issued.
Company is currently evaluating the impact of tipslate on its consolidated financial statements.
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4,

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’'d)

ASU 201443, Consolidation (Topic 810): Measuring the FinahAssets and the Financial Liabilities of a Cdidated Collateralize
Financing Entity

The FASB has issued ASU No. 2013-which will apply to a reporting entity that isquired to consolidate a collateralized finan
entity under the Variable Interest Entities guidandhe fair value of the financial assets of aatelalized financing entity,

determined under GAAP, may differ from the fairulof its financial liabilities even when the firtdal liabilities have recourse only
the financial assets. Before this ASU, there wasspecific guidance in GAAP on how a reporting gnshould account for th
difference. The amendments in this ASU provide ltarraative to Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement,mfeeasuring the financial ass
and the financial liabilities of a consolidatedlat#ralized financing entity to eliminate that diftnce. The amendments in this ASU
effective for public business entities for annuatipds, and interim periods within those annualqais, beginning after December
2015. Early adoption is permitted as of the begigndof an annual period. The adoption of ASU 2QB4is not expected to hav
material effect on the Company’s financial posit@rresults of operations.

ASU 2014-12, Compensation — Stock Compensationi€Top8): Accounting for sharedased payments when the terms of an a
provide that a performance target could be achievted the requisite service period.

The FASB has issued ASU No. 2012-which requires that a performance target thfattd vesting and that could be achieved afte
requisite service period be treated as a performamandition. A reporting entity should apply existi guidance in Topic 71
Compensation — Stock Compensatas |t relates to awards with performance conditibias affect vesting to account for such awz
The performance target should not be reflectedstimating the granttate fair value of the award. Compensation costlshbe
recognized in the period in which it becomes prébabat the performance target will be achievede @mendments in this ASU .
effective for annual periods and interim periodshim those annual periods beginning after Decenil®er2015. Earlier adoption
permitted. The adoption of ASU-2014-12 is not expdcto have material effect on the Companfihancial position or results
operations.

ASU No. 2014-09, Revenues from Contracts with Quste (Topic 606)

The FASB and IASB (the Boards) have issued convkggandards on revenue recognition. ASU No. 209 &ffects any entity usil
U.S. GAAP that either enters into contracts witlstomers to transfer goods or services or entecs donhtracts for the transfer
nonfinancial assets unless those contracts arénwiitle scope of other standards. This ASU will sepde the revenue recognit
requirements in Topic 60Revenue Recognitiand most industrgpecific guidance. The core principle of the gumais that an enti
should recognize revenue to depict the transf@ramised goods or services to customers in an antbanreflects the consideratior
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchaftgehose goods or services. To achieve that pdreiple, an entity should apply 1
following steps:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a custon

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in ¢batract,

Step 3: Determine the transaction pr

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the penénce obligations in the contra
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the erdiisfies a performance obligatic
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4,

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’'d)

For a public entity, the amendments in this ASUedfective for annual reporting periods beginniffigiaDecember 15, 2016, includi
interim periods within that reporting period. THSU is to be applied retrospectively, with certphactical expedients allowed. Ee
application is not permitted. The Company is cutyeevaluating the impact of this update on itssmlidated financial statements.

ASU No. 201408, Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic) 20%d Property, Plant, and Equipment (Topic 3603pd&tting
Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of DisgosBComponents of an Entity

The FASB has issued ASU No. 20@8-which enhance convergence between U.S. GAAP latednational Financial Reporti
Standards (IFRS). The amendments in the ASU chtdrgeriteria for reporting discontinued operatiovisile enhancing disclosures
this area. It also addresses sources of confusidnireconsistent application related to financigdaging of discontinued operatic
guidance in U.S. GAAP. Under the new guidance, ali§posals representing a strategic shift in opmratshould be presented
discontinued operations. Those strategic shiftsiishibave a major effect on the organizat®aperations and financial results. Exam
include a disposal of a major geographic area, pmime of business, or a major equity method Biweent. In addition, the ne
guidance requires expanded disclosures about disoed operations that will provide financial stant users with more informati
about the assets, liabilities, income, and expep$afiscontinued operations. The amendments inAtBe are effective in the fir
quarter of 2015 for public organizations with calenyear ends. Early adoption is permitted. Theptido of ASU-201408 is no
expected to have material effect on the Compariyéntial position or results of operations.
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5. Leasehold Improvements and Equipmen
2014 2013
In US$ thousands Accumulatec Net Carrying Net Carrying
Cost Depreciatior Amount Amount

Manufacturing equipmelr $ 52C $ (O 52C $ 44¢€
Laboratory and office equipme 57C 32¢ 241 121
Computer equipmet 57 42 15 11
Leasehold improvemen- current premise 63 63 0 0
Leasehold improvemen- future premise 207 0 207 1C

$ 1417 % 434 $ 98: $ 58¢

As of December 31, 2014 no depreciation has beesrded on manufacturing equipment as this equipriseheing acquired for tl
Company’'s new manufacturing facility and is therefoot currently in use.

Leasehold improvements carried out on our curreemses have been fully depreciated. IntelGenxitmassted approximately $2
thousand related to leasehold improvement activiiie new premises that the Company plans to ocauplge third quarter of 201
Depreciation of this asset will commence upon oatiop of the premises by the Company.

6. Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2014 NDA acquisition costs o $ifousand (December 31, 2013: $79 thousand) wereded as intangible ass
on the Companyg balance sheet and represent the net book valtleedinal progress payment related to the acdoisiof 100%
ownership of Forfivo XL®.The asset is being amortized over its estimatefulufite of 39 months and the Company commer
amortization upon commercial launch of the prodancdctober 2012

7. Deferred License Revenue
Deferred license revenue represents upfront paysneaeived for the granting, or extension, of IgeEnto the Company’patent:
intellectual property, and proprietary technologyto marketing rights, for commercialization. Deésl license revenue is recognize
income over the period where sales of the licepseducts will occur, or over the period for whittetlicense is grante
Upon entering into the licensing agreement with érdgnt Pharmaceuticals the Company received anntpfiee of $1 million, whic

the Company recognized as deferred license revdiigamount is being amortized in income over @opeof 39 months, commenci
October 2012, which is the minimum period wheresalf Forfivo XL® are expected to be exclusi
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7.

Deferred License Revenue (Cor'd)

In the fourth quarter of 2014, Edgemont exercigsdright to extend the license for the exclusiverkating of Forfivo XL®. In
accordance with the terms for exercising such rigtielGenx invoiced $1.25 million to Edgemont amdognized the full amount
deferred revenue, to be amortized in income froroker 2014 through September 2015.

As at December 31, 2014, the Company has a defesvethue balance of $1,245 thousand (December03B;: $616 thousand) that |
not been recognized as revenue.

Commitments

The Company currently operates out of a 3,500 sgfest leasehold facility consisting of laborateréd office space at 6425 Abra
SaintLaurent, Quebec. The monthly rent for this prop&tgpproximately $2 thousand. The original leage@ment expired in Augt
2009, since when it has been extended for varyargpgs. The most recent extension is defined asldyeimmediately preceding 1
fulfillment of certain conditions relating to theaupation of new leased premises at 6420 Abrams.

On October 1, 2009, the Company signed an agreewitnt.ittle Gem Life Science Partners for investelation services in the US
Under the terms of the agreement, the Company adsred to pay $4.5 thousand per month to LittlenGéfe Science Partners. T
Company renegotiated the agreement in May 2012reddced payments to $2.5 thousand per month. Thee@gnt automatical
renews unless specifically terminated.
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8.

Commitments (Conf d)

On May 7, 2010, the Company executed a Project sfearAgreement with one of its former developmeattpers whereby tl
Company acquired full rights to, and ownership Fdrfivo XL®, a novel, high strength formulation of Bupropion tgehloride, th
active ingredient in Wellbutrin XL®ln accordance with the Project Transfer Agreemand following commercial launch of Forfi
XL® in October 2012, the Company is required, afteovedng an aggregate $200 thousand for manageraesatpreviously paid,
pay its former development partner 10% of net ineawceived from the sale of Forfivo XL& December 2014 the Company fi
recovered said management fees and owed approkn$&@ thousand to its former development parthat tvas remitted in Febru:
2015.

Capital Stock

201¢ 201z
Authorized-
100,000,000 common shares of $0.00001 par \
20,000,000 preferred shares of $0.00001 par \
Issuec-
63,465,255 (December 31, 2013: 60,984,267) conshare: $ 63t $ 61(

On December 16, 2013, as part of a registered @offering, the Company issued approximately 7.Bioni shares of common stock
$0.4419 per share, and fiyear warrants to purchase up to approximately 7lBom shares of common stock, for aggregate ¢
proceeds of approximately US$3.5 million. Each waatrentitles the holder to purchase one commoneshtian exercise price
$0.5646 per common share and expires 60 monthstafelate of issuance. Proceeds were allocategebatthe common shares anc
warrants based on their relative fair value. Thewmn shares were recorded at a value of $1,80&#mol (See note 10 for the por
allocated to the warrants).

The Company paid an agent cash commissions inrttuauiat of approximately $210 thousand, represerfiigof the aggregate gre
proceeds received by the Company, plus expenstsgiamount of approximately $35 thousand, and tsuarants to the agent
purchase 475,221 shares of common stock, repragebfib of the amount of shares sold in the publierofg. Each warrant entitles 1
holder to purchase one common share at an exgnitgeof $0.5646 per common share and expires 4&tma@fter the date of issuan

In addition, the Company paid approximately $27@ugand in cash consideration for other transaciomts, which have been reflec
as a reduction of the common shares and the warbaised on their relative fair values.

No stock options were exercised in the year endeceBber 31, 2014. In the year ended December 3B &Gotal of 75,000 sto
options were exercised for 75,000 common sharesfpav par value of $0 thousand in aggregate, fah azonsideration of $:
thousand, resulting in an increase in additiona+racapital of $31 thousand.
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9.

10.

Capital Stock (cont’d)

In the year ended December 31, 2014 a total of(29088 (2013: 3,098,500) warrants were exercise® 680,988 (2013: 3,098,5(
common shares having a par value of $Nil (2013tHbiisand) in aggregate, for cash consideratiorppfaximately $1,619 thousa
(2013: $1,465 thousand), resulting in an increaselditional paidn capital of approximately $1,619 thousand (208B464 thousand

Additional Paid-In Capital
Stock Options

In November 2006, the Company adopted the 2006kStmentive Plan (the "Plan™) for the purpose @uieg both Incentive Optio
and Nonqualified Options to officers, employeesgctiors and eligible consultants of the Companytotal of 1,600,749 shares
common stock were reserved for issuance undeplais Options may be granted under the Plan onstamd at prices as determinec
the Board of Directors except that the options oatne granted at less than 100%, of the fair mariakte of the common stock on
date of the grant. Each option will be exercisafter the period or periods specified in the optagmeement, but no option may
exercised after the expiration of 10 years fromdaee of grant. All options granted to individuatker than noremployee directors w
have a total vesting period of 24 months from th&edf grant, with one quarter of the total optigmanted vesting and becom
exercisable every six months. Options granted teeraployees may vest and become 100% fully exdrgismmediately upon grant.

In the second quarter of 2008, the life of the amiwas reduced from 10 years to 5 years to comiphythe regulations of the Toror
Stock Exchange. Accordingly, because the grantf@atealue of the modified options was less thiaa fair value of the originalptions
measured immediately before the modification, raémental share-based compensation expense reBolethe modification.

At the Annual General Meeting (“AGM"»n September 8, 2008 the shareholders of the Comgygproved an amendment to incre
the number of shares available for issuance umgePkan from 1,600,749 to 2,074,000, or 10% ofGbenpanys issued and outstand
common shares as of July 28, 2008. Subsequent anesitsl were approved by the shareholders at the A@ield on June 3, 2010 ¢
on May 7, 2013 to increase the number of shareabl@for issuance to 3,308,127 and 5,030,292awts®ely.
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10.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

On April 24, 2013 the Company granted 480,000 stopkions to an officer to purchase common sharé® Jtock options a
exercisable at $0.65 per share and vest on Dece®3ib@015. The stock options were accounted ftheit fair value, as determined
the Black-Scholes valuation model, of approximagd$7 thousand, using the following assumptions:

Expected volatility 78%
Expected life 3.83 year:
Risk-free interest rat 0.34%
Dividend yield Nil

On April 24, 2013 the Company granted 200,000 stopkions to an officer to purchase common sharé® Jtock options a
exercisable at $0.65 per share and vest over 2 w&5% every six months. The stock options wecewnted for at their fair value,
determined by the Black-Scholes valuation modefpyroximately $59 thousand, using the followinguasptions:

Expected volatility 7%
Expected life 3.13 year
Risk-free interest rat 0.34%
Dividend yield Nil

On August 6, 2013 the Company granted 35,000 siptikbns to a noremployee director to purchase common shares. Dok sption:
are exercisable at $0.65 per share and vest oyear® at 25% every six months. The stock optiongwecounted for at their fair val
as determined by the Black-Scholes valuation madelpproximately $9 thousand, using the followasgumptions:

Expected volatility 75%
Expected life 3.13 year:
Risk-free interest rat 0.62%
Dividend yield Nil

On December 3, 2013 the Company granted 75,00k stoiions to a noemployee director to purchase common shares. Tk
options are exercisable at $0.52 per share andovest? years at 25% every six months. The stotlop were accounted for at tt
fair value, as determined by the Black-Scholesatadn model, of approximately $16 thousand, ushegfollowing assumptions:

Expected volatility 67%
Expected life 3.13 year:
Risk-free interest rat 0.58%
Dividend yield Nil
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10.

Additional Paid In Capital (Cont’d)

On December 3, 2013 the Company granted 100,0@k stptions to an officer to purchase common sharés. stock options a
exercisable at $0.52 per share and vest over 2 w&@5% every six months. The stock options wecewnted for at their fair value,
determined by the Black-Scholes valuation modefpgroximately $21 thousand, using the followingumsptions:

Expected volatility 67%
Expected life 3.13 year:
Risk-free interest rat 0.58%
Dividend yield Nil

On December 6, 2013 the Company granted an agegrefidi0,000 stock options to four employees taipaise common shares. -
stock options are exercisable at $0.52 per shatevast over 2 years at 25% every six months. Theksbptions were accounted fo
their fair value, as determined by the Black-Schoel@luation model, of approximately $21 thousarsihgithe following assumptions:

Expected volatility 67%
Expected life 3.13 year
Risk-free interest rat 0.64%
Dividend yield Nil

On December 8, 2014 the Company granted an aggre§a#5,000 stock options to three remployee directors, two officers, and "
employees to purchase common shares. The stoabnspdire exercisable at $0.53 per share and vest2oyears at 25% every !
months. The stock options were accounted for at thie value, as determined by the BlaSkholes valuation model, of approxima
$36 thousand, using the following assumptions:

Expected volatility 63%
Expected life 3.13 year:
Risk-free interest rat 1.10%
Dividend yield Nil

During the year ended December 31, 2013 a totéb@f00 stock options were exercised for 75,000 comsiares having a par valut
$0 thousand in aggregate, for cash consideratig8fthousand, resulting in an increase in addifipaidin capital of $31 thousar
The intrinsic value of the stock options exerciseslat the dates of exercise, totaled $20 thousémdtock options were exercised in
year ended December 31, 2014.
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10. Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)
Information with respect to employees and direcstosk option activity for 2013 and 2014 is asdois:

Weighted averag:

Number of options exercise price
$

QOutstandin¢— January 1, 201 915,58 0.5¢
Grantec 990,00( 0.61
Forfeited (45,000 (0.4¢)
Expired (238,089 (0.80
Exercisec (25,000 (0.3
Outstandin¢— December 31, 201 1,597,501 0.5¢
Grantec 175,00( 0.5:
Forfeited (517,500 (0.69
Expired (125,000) (0.67)
Exercisec - -
Outstandin¢— December 31, 201 1,130,001 0.54

Information with respect to consultant’s stock optactivity for 2013 and 2014 is as follows:

Weighted averag:

Number of options exercise price
$

QOutstandin¢— January 1, 201 150,00( 0.5t
Grantec - -
Forfeited - -
Expired - -
Exercisec (50,000 (0.4
Outstandin— December 31, 201 100,00( 0.5¢
Grantec - -
Forfeited - -
Expired - -
Exercisec - -
Outstandin— December 31, 201 100,00( 0.5¢
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10. Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

Details of stock options outstanding as at DecerBtheP014 are as follows:

Outstanding options Exercisable options
Weighted Weighted
Weighted averag: average Aggregate average Aggregate
Exercise Number of remaining exercise intrinsic Number of  exercise intrinsic
prices options contractual life price value options price value
$ (years) $ $ $ $
0.37 75,00( 0.04 0.0z 75,00( 0.0z
0.45 100,00( 0.0z 0.04 100,00( 0.0t
0.51 20,00( 0.04 0.01 20,00( 0.01
0.52 50,00( 0.0¢ 0.0z 50,00( 0.0z
0.52 275,00( 0.8¢ 0.12 137,50( 0.0¢
0.53 175,00( 0.71 0.0¢ - -
0.54 145,00( 0.2 0.0¢ 145,00( 0.0¢
0.55 50,00( 0.0z 0.0z 50,00( 0.0z
0.58 35,00( 0.1c 0.0z 17,50( 0.01
0.60 55,00( 0.1z 0.0z 55,00( 0.04
0.62 50,00( 0.04 0.0z 50,00( 0.04
0.65 200,00( 0.54 0.11 150,00( 0.11
1,230,00! 2.8t 0.54 17,86: 850,00( 0.54 17,86:

Stockbased compensation expense recognized in 2014egtrds to the stock options was $101 thousand3(Zki114 thousand). As
December 31, 2014, total unrecognized compensaiqense related to unvested stock options was B@dsand (2013: $2.
thousand), all of which relates to options graniedé&mployees and directors. The amount of $74 #modisvill be recognized as
expense over a period of two years. A change itrabaf the Company due to acquisition would catisevesting of the stock optic
granted to employees and directors to acceleratevanld result in $74 thousand being charged toksbased compensation expense.
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10.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)
Warrants

On December 16, 2013 the Company issued approXdyn@i® million stock purchase warrants exercisaibt® approximately 7.
million common shares at $0.5646 per share whigirexon December 16, 2018. The stock purchase wigrveere issued in connect
with the December 16, 2013 registered public affgrdescribed in note 9. The stock purchase warkaets valued at $1,305 thous:i
based on their relative fair value, as determingethb Black-Scholes valuation model using the aggiems below:

Expected volatility 80%
Expected life 5 years
Risk-free interest rat 1.55%
Dividend yield Nil

On December 16, 2013 the Company issued approXyn@te million agents’stock purchase warrants exercisable into approxiy
0.5 million common shares at $0.5646 per share lwkipire on December 11, 2017. The stock purchesmeants were issued
connection with the December 16, 2013 registerddipwffering described in note 9. The stock pusshaptions were valued at $:
thousand based on their relative fair value, asrdeéhed by the Black-Scholes valuation model usiregassumptions below:

Expected volatility 72%
Expected life 4 years
Risk-free interest rat 1.12%
Dividend yield Nil

In the year ended December 31, 2014 a total of(2988B warrants were exercised for 2,480,988 comsiames having a par value
$Nil in aggregate, for cash consideration of appnately $1,619 thousand, resulting in an increaseadditional paidn capital o
approximately $1,619 thousand. In the year endede®éer 31, 2013 a total of 3,098,500 warrants vesxercised for 3,098,5
common shares having a par value of $1 thousaaddregate, for cash consideration of approxim&i&y65 thousand, resulting in
increase in additional paid-in capital of approxietya$1,464 thousand.
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10. Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

Information with respect to warrant activity for2Z0and 2013 is as follows:

Number of  Weighted averag:
warrants exercise price
(All Exercisable) $

Qutstandin¢— January 1, 201 6,104,16! 0.593¢
Warrants attached to registered public offel 7,920,341 0.564¢
Agent¢ warrants attached to registered public offel 475,22: 0.564¢
Exercisec (3,098,501 (0.474)
Agent¢ warrants expire (257,500 (0.474)
Qutstandin¢- December 31, 201 11,143,73 0.607¢
Exercisec (2,480,98) (0.6529)
Expired (1,431,62) (0.7400
Outstandin¢- December 31, 201 7,231,12; 0.564¢
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11. Income Taxes

Income taxes reported differ from the amount cormg@uy applying the statutory rates to losses. €asans are as follows:

2014 2013
Statutory income taxe $ (429 $ (442)
Net operating losses for which no tax benefits Haeen recorde 23¢€ 27¢
Excess of depreciation over capital cost allowe 9 11
Non-deductible expenst 26 56
Undeducted research and development expe 181 14z
Investment tax cred (25) (45
$
- % -

The major components of the deferred tax assessifiked by the source of temporary differencesaaréollows:

2014 201z

Leasehold improvements and equipn $ 9 % 14
Net operating losses carryforwe 2,58 2,407
Undeducted research and development expe 1,35¢ 1,28:
Non-refundable tax credits carryforwa 1,10z 1,09¢
5,04¢ 4,80z

Valuation allowanct (5,049 (4,802
$ - $ -

The valuation allowance at December 31, 2013 waB0®4thousand. The net change in the valuationvalhee during the period enc
December 31, 2014, was an increase of $246 thousanassessing the realizability of deferred tagets management consic
whether it is more likely than not that some partar all of the deferred income tax assets will betrealized. The ultimate realizat
of deferred income tax assets is dependent upogeheration of future taxable income during theiqukr in which those tempore
differences become deductible. Management consttlerscheduled reversal of deferred income taliligls, projected future taxak
income, and tax planning strategies in making éisisessment. Based on consideration of these itearmgement has determined
enough uncertainty exists relative to the realoratf the deferred income tax asset balances trantathe application of a full valuati
allowance as of December 31, 2014.
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11.

Income Taxes (Con’'d)

There were Canadian and provincial net operatiagds of approximately $9,530 thousand (2013: $&}83dsand) and $9,683 thous
(2013: $9,040 thousand) respectively, that may fygied against earnings of future years. Utilizatiof the net operating losse:
subject to significant limitations imposed by theange in control provisions. Canadian and proviriosses will be expiring betwe
2027 and 2034. A portion of the net operating lsssay expire before they can be utilized.

As at December 31, 2014, the Company had nefumdable tax credits of $1,100 thousand (2013098 thousand) of which $
thousand is expiring in 2017, $194 thousand isréxgiin 2018, $170 thousand is expiring in 201%4%thousand is expiring in 20:
$154 thousand is expiring in 2021, $193 thousarekring in 2022, $129 thousand is expiring in 2@&d $95 thousand is expiring
2024 and undeducted research and development egen$4,805 thousand (2013: $4,354 thousand) watexpiration date.

The deferred tax benefit of these items was naigeized in the accounts as it has been fully pexyifbr.
Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The Company does not have any unrecognized taXitene

Tax Years and Examination

The Company files tax returns in each jurisdictiorwhich it is registered to do business. For gacisdiction a statute of limitatiol
period exists. After a statute of limitations periexpires, the respective tax authorities may mgéo assess additional income tax
the expired period. Similarly, the Company is nader eligible to file claims for refund for any télxat it may have overpaid. T
following table summarizes the Compasiynajor tax jurisdictions and the tax years thama@ subject to examination by th
jurisdictions as of December 31, 2014

Tax Jurisdictions Tax Years
Federa- Canads 2011 and onwar
Provincial- Quebec 2011 and onwar
Federa- USA 2011 and onwar
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12.

13.

14,

15.

Statement of Cash Flows Information

In US$ thousands 2014 2013

Additional Cash Flow Information:
Interest paic $ 5 % 5

Related Party Transactions

Included in management salaries are $29 thousaiB(Z10 thousand) for options granted to the Chiedcutive Officer, $Nil (201
$39 thousand) for options granted to the Chief @feg Officer, and $43 thousand (2013: $29 thoulé&rdoptions granted to the Ch
Financial Officer under the 2006 Stock Option Prd $17 thousand (2013: $10 thousand) for optioastgd to noremploye:
directors.

Included in general and administrative expensesieetor fees of $187 thousand (2013: $80 thouseamhprising an annual stipe
and for payments for attendance at board meetimgsadit committee meetings.

The above related party transactions have beenurezhat the exchange amount which is the amouttieotonsideration establist
and agreed upon by the related parties.

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Common Shar

Basic and diluted loss per common share is caledlaased on the weighted average number of shatstmading during the peric
The warrants and stock options have been excluted the calculation of diluted loss per share sthey are anti-dilutive.

Subsequent Event:

Subsequent to the end of the year, on March 16 #td Company received CAD$500 thousand (approxiyn&430 thousand) in ce
as part of a credit facility of up to CAD$3.5 milfi (approximately $3.0 million) negotiated with BM&Bank of Montreal. The cre«
facility is supported by a 50% guarantee underBkport Guarantee Program from Export Developmenta@a. Disbursement of 1
remaining CAD$3.0 million ($2.6 million) is subjetd review in August 2015 of the Compasydperating results for the first 6 mor
of 2015. The credit facility may be drawn down inltiple disbursements over 12 months and, afterraoth moratorium on tl
capital, has a repayment term of up to 60 monthe. Company will use the funds for the purchaseiastdllation of new equipment 1
its new, state-of the-art, manufacturing facility.
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

15.  Subsequent Events (Cor'd)

On March 16, 2015 the Company placed an order fpackaging machines to be manufactured and indtallédhe Companyg new
state-of theart, manufacturing facility. The purchase orderthia aggregate amount of Euros 1.5 million (apprately $1.6 million’
requires immediate payment of a 20% deposit withlzhlance to be paid upon completion of each macHihe laboratory packagi
machine is expected to be delivered in Q3, 2015tlamdommercial packaging machine is expected telieered in Q4, 2015.
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MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT executed at Montreal, Quebec, thisS88day of December2014.

BETWEEN: INTELGENX CORP., a corporation constituted under the law:
Canada, having its head office at 6425 Abrams,eVHit.Laurent
Quebec H4S 1X9 duly represented herein by HorstZ&rbe, it
President and CEO, duly authorized as he so ds¢

(hereinafter called th* Corporation ")

AND: JOHN E.M. DURHAM, domiciled and residing at 102 Mayfair,
Hudson, Quebec, JOP 1HO, Can

(hereinafter called th* Executive™)

WHEREAS the Corporation has undertaken to retain the Exezals an “at-will” employee in the position of é€resident of Manufacturii
OperationsWHEREAS the Corporation wishes to retain the Executiveta¥/icePresident of Manufacturing Operations, and the Ebree
agrees to be so retained, the whole “at-will” ander the terms and conditions set forth in this Meandum of Agreement (“Agreement”);

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PARTIES HERETO AGREE AS FOLLOWS :
1. Preamble
The preamble of this Agreement and its Schedulé(aiy, shall form an integral part hereof.

2. Employment

Subject to the terms and conditions hereinaftefa#t, the Corporation hereby agrees to retainBkecutive in the position of Vice-
President of Manufacturing Operations, and the Htree hereby agrees to serve in such capacity.

3. Duties and Responsibilities

The Executive shall report to the Chief Executiviéid@r of the Corporation (hereinafter referreda® the “CEO”)and perform suc
duties, consistent with his office, and exercisehspowers with respect to the Corporation as magdsggned to or vested in him, fr
time to time, by the CEO.

The Executive will accept no other employment duitime term of this Agreement.

4, Term of Employment

Subject to the specific provisions hereinafterfegh respecting the termination of the Executsvemployment, the employment of

Executive shall be for an indeterminate term, comeivey as of January®l, 2015 (the “Commencement Dateft).this Agreement, ea
twelve-month period following the Commencement Datanniversary thereof is referred to as an “Emplent Year”.
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5. Salary

The Executive shall receive from the Corporatioraanual salary of one hundred and eighty-five thadsdollars ($185,000) (thdast
Salary”). The Base Salary shall be subject to review by thm@ensation Committee of the Board on a yearlyshasovided that su
Base Salary, as in effect from time to time, mayrioeeased but not be reduced. The Base Salarytshphid to the Executive, in law
currency of Canada, in equal consecutivevbekly installments or in such other manner as fray time to time be agreed between
Corporation and the Executive, less all appropridateholdings required by law.

6. Automobile

The Corporation shall pay to the Executive a mgn¢éhltomobile allowance in the amount of seven hedidmnd fifty dollars ($750.0(
which shall cover all related operating expenseduding, without limitation, insurance, registaatj gas, maintenance and repairs.

7. Business Expense

The Corporation shall reimburse the Executive fibrr@asonable traveling, entertainment and othesirfmss expenses actually
properly incurred by him in connection with the foemance of his duties hereunder, upon presentatfoacceptable document:
evidence that such expenses have been incurred.

8. Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Corporation hereby agrees to indemnify the Htiee in accordance with the provisions of itslaws; as such provisions may
expanded from time to time.

9. Benefits

9.1 Benefit Plans

The Executive shall be entitled to participate ircls group life, medical and disability insurancarnd as may be provided by
Corporation.

9.2 Communications Equipment

The Corporation shall provide the Executive and fmaya mobile telephone that the Executive may inseonnection with his duti
hereunder and shall pay for the monthly fees aadamable use of same.

10. Bonus

10.1 Annual Bonus

The Executive shall be entitled to receive an ahbaaus in respect of each fiscal year that fatisyhole or in part, during the term
the Executives employment hereunder, which will be paid basezhuihe achievement of specific performance targstzblished by t
Executive and the Board before or within the figsarter of each fiscal year. The Executsvirget bonus for meeting such perform:
targets shall be up to thirty percent (30%) of Baatary.
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11.

12.

13.

10.2 Payment

Any bonus payable pursuant to this Section 10.1 begpayable not later than March 31st followihe fiscal year end.

10.3 Other bonus targets and payout:

It is further agreed that the Executive and therBaaay, from time to time, establish other spediinus targets and payouts in addi
to those specifically detailed above.

Stock Options

11.1 Eligibility & Entitlement

The Executive shall be eligible to participate ire temployee stock option plan of the Corporatioh.tie commencement of |
employment, subject to the approval of the BoardwoEctors, he will be entitled to the grant of J@W0 stock options under f
Corporation’s stock option plan.

11.2 Vesting

The vesting of the said stock options will takecgl@ver two (2) years at the rate of 25% for eeeryonths of completed service.

Vacation

The Executive shall be entitled to four (4) weebaid vacation per calendar year, pated as applicable in the year of commence
and termination / resignation. Vacation periodstarbe taken at such time(s) convenient to the &xex and the Corporation. Vacat
entittement may be carried over from one Employméear to the next only if it is then used withiretfirst three months of tr
following Employment Year.

Termination of Employment

13.1 For purposes of this Section 13 and of Sectionflthis Agreement, the following words and expressishall have the mean
ascribed to them belov

(@)

(b)

“ Accruals " means: (i) any accrued but unpaid Base Salary aodied but unpaid vacation pay through to the dé
termination of employment of the Executive; (ii)nedits accrued and earned by the Executive thrdogtihe date ¢
termination (if any) in accordance with the apdiieaplans and programs of the Corporation; andl @iy busines
expenses incurred by the Executive in accordantetive provisions hereof, but not yet paid as efdate of terminatio
less all appropriate withholdings required by |z

“ Cause” shall include (i) commission of an act of dishogefitaud, embezzlement, misappropriation, or intaral anc
deliberate injury or material breach of fiducianytyl or material breach of the duty of loyalty telh to or against tl
Corporation or its business, or any unlawful omgnial activity of a serious nature involving anyofgy, or conviction by
court of competent jurisdiction of, or pleading Iguior nolo contendere to, any felony or any crimeolving mora
turpitude, (ii) any material breach by the Execaitivot cured within 30 days of written notice thérexs any covenan
term, provision of or obligation under any agreemeith the Corporation, including this Agreement amy othe
employment, confidentiality/non-disclosure, assigmi of inventions or nomempetition agreement, or (iii) gre
negligence or willful misconduct by the Executivelated to the Executive’s performance or pemformance (
Executives duties under this Agreement that has a matediadrae effect on the Corporation or any Subsidiary(iv)
Executive’s failure to perform his duties in a r@aasbly acceptable manner, as determined by the d@iE@g Executives
first Employment Year and by the Board during Exa&’s subsequent employment thereal
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13.2 If the Executive shall die or shall voluntarily igrs from his employment with the Corporation at dinye other than as descrit
in section 14 of this Agreement, this Agreementigieaminate and the Corporation shall have nohfertobligations hereunc
except to pay to the Executive (or his estatehasase may be) any Accrue

13.3 Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the ©caion may terminate the employment of the Exeeutinder thi
Agreement by notice in writing to the Executiveya at any time, in any of the following ever

(@) for Cause, in which case the Executive shall nagrttétled to a notice period or to any compensatilaimages or payme
of any nature whatsoever, save for any Accrual

(b)  for any reason whatsoever (other than the reaset out in suparagraph a) of this Section 13.3 above, the caeseg
of which are set forth therein) in which case, didition to the payment of any Accruals, the Exeaishall be entitled
the following payments and benefits in respect nfesghteen (18) month period (the “Severance P&riddss al
appropriate withholdings required by law, such pagta and benefits being hereinafter referred tthasTerminatior
Benefite':

0] payment of a lumgsum indemnity equivalent to the aggregate amouBtaske Salary that would have been pay
during the Severance Peric

(ii) continued participation in all employee benefitard and programs in which the Executive was pp#iitig on th
date of termination of employment, if and as peexitthereunder, until the earlier of: (i) the eagion of th
Severance Period; and (ii) the date on which thecHtive receives equivalent coverage and bendfitienothe
plans and programs of a subsequent empl

(i)  payment of a bonus covering the period from theirbegg of the then current fiscal year through tte tlate ¢
termination employment calculated as a pro rateesbfithe previous ye's bonus

(iv)  any stock options that are unvested at the daterwiination of employment shall immediately v¢
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All payments to the Executive contemplated by thenTination Benefits shall be made by the Corponatiithin ten (10) days !
the date of termination of the Executisegmployment. Furthermore, it is specifically ursi@od and agreed that the Exect
shall have no obligation to mitigate damages ok sgher employment or compensation in the evenishentitled to receix
Termination Benefits under any provision of thisrégment, and except as otherwise expressly provfisanents made as [
of such Termination Benefits shall not be offsetbynpensation or remuneration received from otbarces.

14. Termination by the Executive following a Change irControl

For purposes of this Section 14 and only for sugipgsesChange in Control” shall mean:

any change of control, in fact or in law, includiagy sale, transfer or any other disposition anga&tion or series thereof, directly
indirectly, pursuant to or as a result of which g@eyson or group of persons acting together opircert shall acquire, hold or exerc
whether directly or indirectly, rights over seciadt to which are attached more than fifty percé084) of the votes that may be cas
elect directors of the Corporation, or which eatithe holder(s) thereof to more than fifty percg&ti%) of the economic value of
Corporation but shall not include a change of adnm&sulting from the issuance by the Corporatibsexurities from treasury pursu
to a financing.

The Executive may terminate his employment hereuatleany time within a period of twelve (12) montiadlowing a Change |
Control; in such event, the Corporation shall bguieed to pay the Executive any Accruals, and mteviiim with the Terminatic
Benefits.

15. Sufficiency of Payment

The Executive acknowledges that the amounts andfit@montemplated in Sections 13 and 14 hereofareand reasonable and t
such amounts cover any and all amounts which magwiag or payable by the Corporation in respechisf employment and t
termination thereof, whether as prior notice, congagory payment in lieu of prior notice, indemniitylieu of notice of terminatio
severance pay, vacation, bonus, incentive, alloaangpenses, benefits or contractual or estratractual damages pursuant to
provision of law, contract, policy, plan, regulatjadecree or practice whatsoever. Except as expresstemplated in Sections 13 ¢
14 and except for any rights which he may have va#pect to the indemnification to be provided ty €orporation pursuant to Seci
8, whether under its biws or otherwise, the Executive specifically acktemiges and agrees that neither he nor his edtate =
entitled to receive any other or additional amotirds the Corporation upon ceasing to be an emgloye

16. Confidentiality

The Executive acknowledges that, in the courseiotmployment with the Corporation, he will haveess to and be entrusted v
confidential and proprietary information and tramberets of or relating to the Corporation, whicfoimation is not part of the pub
domain, and which the Corporation has a legitimaterest in protecting. Such information and tragerets include, but are not
limited to the following:

(a) the identity of the Corporation’s clients; tB®rporation$ client lists; the products and/or services offeoe provided to tF
Corporations clients, the prices charged for such productseovices; the volume of sales made to such cli¢ghésparticule
needs of such clients; and the methods or arranggsnmaplemented by the Corporation or any Memberebf to service or (
business with such client
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(b)  the identity of the Corporatiom'suppliers; lists of suppliers; the products angéovices purchased from such suppliers, the g
paid to such suppliers, and the financial or offgticular arrangements made between such suppliershe Corporation or a
Member thereof

(c) the identity of the Corporatiom’employees, the list(s) of employees of any Menolhéine Corporation, the salary, remunera
other employment benefits and/or training provitteduch employee:

(d) any information concerning the actual or plannazhtion, production, development, marketing, saktridution and/or licensir
of any products or services by the Corporationngr ldember thereof

(e) any technique, process, method of doing businessales, marketing, product development or busimdsss or strategie
surveys, designs, inventions or other intellectualperty of the Corporation or any Member theréof]uding all antecede
derivative works; an

® any information concerning the financial affairstioé Corporation or any Member thereof and any tiagions, licensing or oth
business agreements between any Member of the adigpoand third partie

(hereinafter referred to collectively asConfidential Information ”). The Executive acknowledges and agrees that thgdorg ar
only examples of the types of trade secrets, centidl and proprietary information that will be neakinown to him by reason of
employment with the Corporation, and are not tedestrued as an exhaustive list of such informatiois also understood that the t
“Confidential Information”does not include information which is or becomesegally known to the public without any breach by
Executive of his obligations hereunder or any faulthe part of the Executive.

The Executive covenants and agrees that, duringrhjoyment with the Corporation, and at all tirsebsequent to the terminatior
his said employment, for whatever reason, whetbkrmtary or involuntary, he shall not, directlyiadirectly, in any manner or for a
purpose whatsoever, except for the business pwspafsthe Corporation and as may be reasonably nedjuin the normal and loy
performance of his employment duties hereundentss and to the extent he is specifically requicedo so by Court order, use, ci
or reproduce or allow to be used, copied or repeduany Confidential Information or disclose, traits transfer or communicate
allow to be disclosed, transmitted, transferreé@ammunicated any Confidential Information to anyspea, firm, business, corporati
partnership, joint venture, syndicate, associatjmvernmental organization or authority, or anyeottype of entity or group, endowec
not with juridical personality.

The Executive acknowledges and agrees that theidemtial Information, and all materials, documerftes and records relatil
thereto, are and shall remain the exclusive prgpdrthe Corporation.
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The Executive covenants and agrees that, uporetheest of the Corporation and, in any event, upertérmination of his employme
with the Corporation, for whatever reason, wheth@untary or involuntary, he will return to the Qaoration immediately, witho
making or keeping any copies or reproductions tiferi@ whatever form, all Confidential Informatiohpwever captured, stored
recorded, as well as all materials, documentss,filecords, diskettes, notebooks, and other prppéithe Corporation which are in
possession, or under his custody or control.

Intellectual Property

17.1 Any and all inventions and improvements thereoncesses, information and/or data which the Exeeutiay make, concei
and/or compile during his employment, whether alona concert with others, relating or in any wasrtaining to, or connect
with any of the matters which have been, are or begome, during his employment, the subject ofhilginess, investigatio
and/or research and development program of thedZatipn or in which the Corporation has been, isnay become interest
during his employment (collectively, the Itiventions "), shall be the sole and exclusive property of thepGation. It i
understood and agreed, however, that the term tiorenshall not include any inventions, or improwsns thereon, process
information and/or data which the Executive maloesiceives or compiles in the context of his invabest with any adviso
board or as a director of any other corporationpesnitted pursuant to section 4 hereof. The Exeeuiereby assigns to 1
Corporation, without any limitation whatsoever, amnd all right, title and interest in and to thedntions.

Further, the Executive hereby waives, without amjtation whatsoever, to the benefit of the Corpiorg its successors, assi
and licensees any moral rights which he may hatte r@spect to the Inventions for the term of sughtr

17.2 The Executive will, whenever requested to do sehigyCorporation, either during or after the tertioraof his employment, fi
any reason whatsoever, execute any and all applicatassignments and other instruments which thpdation shall dee
necessary in order to apply for and obtain letpatent of Canada and/or foreign countries for dnelentions and in order
assign and convey to the Corporation the sole aoctigive right, title and interest in and to sudvdntions, applications a
patents

17.3 To the end that Sections 17.1 and 17.2 hereof raagffiectively carried out, the Executive shall ppttyrinform and disclose
the Corporation all inventions, improvements, psses, applications, data and/or other informatiauen conceived and.
compiled by him during the Terr

Non-Competition and Nor-Solicitation Covenants

The Executive expressly covenants and agreesdhahg his employment and for a period of twelv@)(inonths from the date
which his employment by the Corporation terminafes,whatever reason, whether voluntary or invadumt he will not, directly ¢
indirectly:

(@) anywhere in North America, engage in, whether @®la proprietor, partner, shareholder or in anyeroprietary capaci
whatsoever, or provide support and/or assistan@nynother form whatsoever, to any person, firntamporation engaged
developing, manufacturing, licensing, marketing distributing any product that competes with a priddeveloper
manufactured, licensed, marketed or distributedth®y Corporation during the Term or at the date wfhstermination ¢
employment, as the case may

Employment Agreemer IntelGenx Corp Confidentia




-8-

(b) anywhere in North America, be employed by, actraggecutive or adviser to, or be the agent or pative of any persc
firm or corporation engaged in developing, manufany, licensing, marketing or distributing any guct that competes witt
product developed, manufactured, licensed, marketedistributed by the Corporation during the Tesmat the date of su
termination of employment, as the case may

(c)  solicit or attempt to solicit any customer or eatany such customer of the Corporation to ceasiéndeaith the Corporation,
all such cases with a view to giving, selling ooyading to such customer any products or servideslas to the products
services sold or provided by the Corporation atitime of the cessation of his employme

(d) solicit, induce, or otherwise persuade any exeeutiv Executive of the Corporation to terminate dasployment or to cea
providing services to the Corporatic

The restrictions contained in Section 18(b) wilt peevent the Executive from accepting employmeitih any larger pharmaceutical
medical products organization with separate antindisdivisions that do not compete, directly odimectly, with the Corporation,
long as prior to accepting such employment the @arion receives separate written assurances fnerpriospective employer and fr
the Executive, satisfactory to the Corporationthi® effect that the Executive will not render aeyvices, directly or indirectly, to a
division or business unit that competes, directlyndirectly, with the Corporation. During the nastive period set forth in Section 18
(b), the Executive will inform any new employerjgorto accepting employment, of the existence if fhgreement and provide st
employer with a copy of this Agreement. Furtheg tastrictions in Section 18(b) will not prohildiiet Executive from owning up to £
of the capital stock of a publicly traded pharmaioali or medical device company even if such pubiimpany has a product line wh
may compete with a Corporation Product. In the eveat in any legal proceedings before a compaténinal in any jurisdiction, it
determined that either of Sub-sections a), b),raj)mf Section 18 above, or any part of the saitd-&ctions, is invalid with respect
any particular transaction, that Ssetion or part thereof shall be deemed to be edvfieom this Agreement for the purposes only o
particular legal proceedings in question, and Hig Sub-section shall, in every other respect,inaatin full force and effect.

19. Violation

19.1 The Executive hereby agrees that the restrictiornise foregoing sections and paragraphs are reblsoaad necessary in orde
permit the Corporation to adequately protect itgtimate interests and competitive position in therketplace

19.2 The Executive acknowledges that, in the event gflaeach by him of any of his obligations undertissxs 16, 17 and 18, su
breach shall cause the Corporation serious angairable harm and that injunctive relief will be esgary in such event, with
prejudice to any other recourses or remedies dlaita the Corporatior

20. General

20.1 The Executive acknowledges that this Agreement é¢eraract by mutual agreement which has been regdtiand discuss
between the parties and entered into as a resuttdh
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20.2 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreementd®t the parties hereto with respect to the subj@tter hereof, contains
of the agreements between the parties hereto gpetsmdes all prior written or oral agreements benéth respect to the subji
hereof and any and all such prior written or ogak@ments are hereby terminat

20.3 No amendment to this Agreement shall be valid adinig unless set forth in writing and duly execubsdboth of the partic
hereto. No waiver of any breach of any provisiontto§ Agreement shall be effective or binding usl@sade in writing ar
signed by the party purporting to give the same, amdess otherwise provided in the written waiva@rall be limited to tt
specific breach waivel

20.4 Each and every term, condition and provision o thjreement is and shall be severable one frorotther, and in the event tl
any term, condition or provision hereof is at anye declared by a@ourt of competent jurisdiction to be void, invald
unenforceable, same shall not extend to invalidateke void or make unenforceable any condition mvigion of thi
Agreement, and such term, condition or provisioasclared to be void, invalid or unenforceable Isdbalsevered from the resi
this Agreement

20.5 This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall ertorthe benefit of the parties hereto, their reSpe successors, le
representatives and permitted assi

20.6 The provisions of Sections 17, 18, 19 and 20 shallive the termination of this Agreeme

20.7 The paragraph and section headings herein areofarenience of reference only and shall not affeany way the meaning
interpretation of this Agreemer

20.8 This Agreement shall be governed by and constroeatcordance with the laws of the Province of Queli&e courts of tt
Province of Quebec shall have exclusive jurisdictiath respect to any disagreement or dispute lextwbe parties regardi
this Agreement

20.9 The parties agree that any and all disputes arfsamg, or related to, this Agreement shall be egitlely conducted in the Engli
language

20.10 Time is of the essence of this Agreem

20.11 The parties acknowledge that they have required ttie present Agreement, as well as all documemitices and leg
proceedings entered into, given or instituted pamswr relating directly or indirectly hereto beadin up in English. Les parti
reconnaissent avoir exigé la rédaction en anghkikgrésente convention ainsi que de tous docwnexdcutés, avis donné:
toutes poursuites judiciaires intentées, directérnanndirectement, relativement ou a la suiteadprésente conventio
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AND THE PARTIES HAVE SIGNED
INTELGENX CORP.
Per: /s/ Horst G. Zerb:

Horst G. Zerbe
President & CEC

/s/ John E.M. Durhar
John E.M. Durhan
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Exhibit 23.1

RICHTER

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referesfceur report dated March 30, 2015 relating to audits of financial statements
IntelGenx Technologies Corp. as of and for the yearded December 31, 2014 and 2013 appearingsritinual Report on Form 1-of
IntelGenx Technologies Corp. for the year endedeldser 31, 2014.

Richter LLP (Signed!

Montréal, Québec,
Canada
March 30, 2015

1CPA auditor, CA, public accountancy permit No. A23@

T. 514.934.340(

Richter S.E.N.C.R.L/LLP
1981 McGill College

Mtl (Qc) H3A 0G6
www.richter.ca

Montreal, Toronto




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Horst G. Zerbe, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on FA®K of IntelGenx Technologies Corp. for the yeaded December 31, 2014;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescnatain any untrue statement of a material faatroit to state a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgta under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the per
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statetsy and other financial information included histreport, fairly present in all matel
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrarg’ other certifying officer and | are responsible &stablishing and maintaining disclosure contientsl procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-1
(f) and 15d — 15f) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and pires, or caused such disclosure controls and gwoes to be designed under our supervi
to ensure that material information relating to tegistrant, including its consolidated subsidisris made known to us by others within tt
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over finahecgporting, or caused such internal control direancial reporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance riegattie reliability of financial reporting and thgeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissadisclosure controls and procedures and predantthis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change inrégistrant’s internal control over financial refiog that occurred during the registranthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrig that has materially affected, or is reasopdikkly to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrarg’ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsédxh on our most recent evaluation of internal abraver financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaadmmittee of the registramst’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden:
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and matenméaknesses in the design or operation of interoatrol over financial reporting which ¢
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, thatdlves management or other employees who havgnéisant role in the registrar®’interna
control over financial reporting.

March 30, 2015 By: /s/Horst G. Zerbe
Horst G. Zerbe
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer







Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
[, Paul A. Simmons, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on FA@rK of IntelGenx Technologies Corp. for the yeaded December 31, 2014;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report dodgscontain any untrue statement of a material faamit to state a material fact necessai
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgta under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the per
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statets, and other financial information includecthis report, fairly present in all mate:
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrarg’ other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanisl procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-1
(f) and 15d — 15f) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls andgohaies, or caused such disclosure controls anéguoes to be designed under our supervi
to ensure that material information relating to tegistrant, including its consolidated subsidisris made known to us by others within tt
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over finahecgporting, or caused such internal control direancial reporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance riegattie reliability of financial reporting and thgeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the regids disclosure controls and procedures and prexbém this report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change inrégistrant’s internal control over financial refiog that occurred during the registranthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrig that has materially affected, or is reasopdikkly to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrarg’ certifying other officer and | have disclosedsdzh on our most recent evaluation of internal a@brdwer financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaadmmittee of the registramst’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden:
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and matenméaknesses in the design or operation of interoatrol over financial reporting which ¢
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, thatdlves management or other employees who havgnéisant role in the registrar®’interna
control over financial reporting.

March 30, 2015 By: /s/Paul A. Simmon
Paul A. Simmon:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office







Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of I@ehx Technologies Corp. (the “Company”) on FormKlébr the year ended December
2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Casion (the “Report”)], Horst G. Zerbe, Principal Executive Officer dfet Company
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adoptedyant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A206P, that:

(&N The Report fully complies with trexjuirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S&éesrExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in thepBe fairly presents, in all material respects, fihancial condition and result of operations o
Company.

March 30, 2015 By: /s/Horst G. Zerbe
Horst G. Zerbe
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer







Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of li@ehx Technologies Corp. (the “Company”) on FormKLdr the year ended Decem
31, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchadgmmission (the “Report™), Paul A. Simmons, Principal Financial and AccangtOfficer
of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.35@, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBadOxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with treguirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S&éearExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in thepRe fairly presents, in all material respects, fihancial condition and result of operati
of the Company.

March 30, 2015 By: /s/Paul A. Simmon
Paul A. Simmon:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




